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HYUNDAI AUTO CANADA CORP.,

HYUNDAI MOTOR COMPANY,

HYUNDAI MOTOR AMERICA, INC.,

HYUNDAI MOTOR MANUFACTURING ALABAMA LLC,
KIA CANADA INC.,

KIA MOTORS CORPORATION,

KIA MOTORS AMERICA, INC. and

KIA MOTORS MANUFACTURING GEORGIA, INC.

DEFENDANTS

Brought under the Class Proceedings Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, ¢.50

AMENDED NOTICE OF CIVIL CLAIM

This action has been started by the plaintiff(s) for the relief set out in Part 2 below.

If you intend to respond to this action, you or your lawyer muyst

(a) file a response to civil claim in Form 2 in the above-named registry
of this court within the time for response to civil claim described

below, and

(b) Serve a copy of the filed response to civil claim on the plaintiff.

If you intend to make a counterclaim, you or your lawyer must
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(a) file a response to civil claim in Form 2 and a counterclaim in Form 3
in the above-named registry of this court within the time for response
to civil claim described below, and

(b) " serve a copy of the filed response to civil claim and counterclaim on the plaintiff and
on any new parties named in the counterclaim. -

JUDGMENT MAY BE PRONOUNCED AGAINST YOU IF YOU FAIL to file the response to civil
claim within the time for response to civil claim described below.

TIME FOR RESPONSE TO CIVIL CLAIM
A response to civil claim must be filed and served on the plaintiff(s),

(a) if you reside anywhere in Canada, within 21 days after the date on which a copy of
the filed notice of civil claim was served on you,

(b) if you reside in the United States of America, within 35 days after the date on which
a copy of the filed notice of civil claim was served on you,

(c) if you reside elsewhere, within 49 days after the date on which a copy of the filed
notice of civil claim was served on you, or

(d) if the time for response to civil claim has been set by order of the court, within that
time.

CLAIM OF THE PLAINTIFF(S)

Part 1: STATEMENT OF FACTS
A. Introduction - Overview

1. The within proposed consumer product liability multi-jurisdictional class proceeding involves
certain Affected Class Vehicles, as defined below, designed, manufactured, assembled,
tested, marketed, distributed, supplied, leased and/or sold by the Defendants, HYUNDAI
AUTO CANADA CORP. (*HACC"), HYUNDAI MOTOR COMPANY (*HMC”), HYUNDAI
MOTOR AMERICA, INC. (‘HMA”), HYUNDAI MOTOR MANUFACTURING ALABAMALLC
(‘HMMA”), KIA CANADA INC. (“*KCI"), KIA MOTORS CORPORATION (*KMC"), KIA
MOTORS AMERICA, INC. (“KMA”)and KIAMOTORS MANUFACTURING GEORGIA, INC.
(“‘KMMG"), in Canada, including the Province of British Columbia, that contain a defective
Hydraulic Electronic Control Unit (*HECU”) in the Anti-Lock Brake System (“ABS”), located
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in the engine compartment, that can short circuit and ignite, presenting consumers with an
unacceptable risk of engine fire while driving or even when the véhié'é' is parked and turned
off. Specifically, moisture, or other leaks, can accumulate wnthln the HECU (also Known as
the ABS control module), which maintains an electrical charge even when the vehicle is off.
Moisture, or other leaks, entering the electrified ABS control module canforrn a short circuit,
increasing the chances of spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s énginé ‘com'partment
(the “Electrical Fire Defect”).

The Electrical Fire Defect exposes proposed class members to an unreasonable risk of
harm, injury, death and/or property damage should their vehicle’s engine catch fire while
in operation, or spontaneously ignite while the vehicle is parked at the proposed class
member’s home or in a public parking lot. The Electrical Fire Defect also exposes
passengers, other drivers on the road, neighbors, and bystanders to an unreasonable risk
of harm, injury, death and/or property damage.

Affected Class Vehicles include, but are not limited to, the following model year Hyundai
and Kia vehicles designed, manufactured and/or assembled by the Defendants, HMC,
HMMA, KMC, and/or KMMG, and marketed, advertised, distributed and/or sold by the
Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA, KCI, KMC and/or KMA, in Canada, including the Province
of British Columbia, equipped with a defective HECU:

Defendant, Vehicle Model Model Year (“MY”)
Manufacturer

HMC Azera 2006-2011

HMC Elantra 2007-2010

HMC Genesis 2015, 2016

HMC Genesis G80 2017-2020

HMC Santa Fe 2007, 2016-2018
HMC Santa Fe XL 2019

HMC Accent 2012-2015

HMC Equus 2014-2015

HMC Tucson 2010-2013
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Veracruz

Elantra ;f’burin‘gf;;:‘

Entourage
Tucson

Santa FeAS"po'rt.
Elantra

Genesis Coupe

Santa Fe

Sonata

Cadenza
K900
Sedona
Sportage
Stinger
Borrego
Cadenza
Forte

Forte Koup
K900

Telluride
Optima

Sorento

2010-2012

2009-2011

2007, 2008

- 2014-2021

2013-2015, 2017, 2018
2011-2015
2011-2015
2013-2015

2006

2017-2019
2016-2018
2006-2010
2008, 2009, 2014-2021
2018-2021
2010-2011
2014-2016
2010-2013
2010-2013
2015
2012-2017
2010-2017
2011-2013
2010

2020
2043-2615 2010-2015

2007-2009, 2011-2014, 2015
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The Electrical Fire Defect plagues an ever-increasing number of Hyundai and Kia vehicle
mbdé!s, yéars, and en'gihés, inzluding the Affected Class Vehicles. Many proposed class
members have already experienqed a'catastrophic’engine fire because of the Electrical Fire
Defect, costing them thbus’andsﬁc?"dc.;l'lars'. The Defendants do not have an adequate
remedy or fix for the Electrical Fire Defect and they have directed consumers to park their
vehicles outside and away from structures until a fix is available.

The catastrophic engine fire risk is the direct result of a defect known to, concealed by, and
still unremedied by the Defendants. Not only did the Defendants actively conceal the
Electrical Fire Defect from consumers, but they also concealed its consequences, including
the serious safety hazards and monetary harm caused by the Electrical Fire Defect—e.g.,
damage to a home and injury or death to persons inhabiting that home should the HECU
spontaneously ignite while the Affected Class Vehicle is parked in an attached garage.

The Defendants knew or ought to have known about the Electrical Fire Defect as evidenced
by: (1) consumer complaints lodged with American and Canadian government vehicle
safety regulators, including the United States National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
("NHTSA”"), Transport Canada and elsewhere online; (2) warranty claims, part sales, and
consumer complaints lodged with the Defendants directly; (3) current and earlier safety
recalls issued by the Defendants in an attempt to remedy or fix the Electrical Fire Defect;
and (4) the Defendants own pre-sale durability testing of the Affected Class Vehicles.

Despite the Defendants longstanding knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected
Class Vehicles, they have issued piecemeal and untimely recalls over the last six years.
Only after the number of complaints about the Electrical Fire Defect increased and
consumers grew mistrustful of these vehicles did the Defendants publicly acknowledge the
Electrical Fire Defect inherent in the Affected Class Vehicles and issue recalls. The
Defendants purported remedies for the Electrical Fire Defect under these recalls are only
a band-aid and fail to adequately cure the Electrical Fire Defect, while also failing to
reimburse vehicle owners and/or lessees for out-of-pocket expenses, loss of use, or loss
of value. These recall repairs are also not readily available, so vehicle owners and/or
lessees are left without a safe operable vehicle for unknown and often lengthy periods.



10.

-6-

Further, the Defendants refuse to fix the Electrical Fire Defect at no cost in their unrecalled

" vehicles, even within the warranty period. The Defendants have also denied Warranty claims
~for the: Electnca Fi ire Defect when it manifests after expiration of the warranty period despite: -

their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect at the time of sale and/or lease.

As a result fothe.'Defendants unfair, misleading, deceptive, and/or fraudulent business

‘practices in failing to disclose the Electrical Fire Defect to the Plaintiff and proposed class

members, owners and/or lessees of Affected Class Vehicles are injured in fact, incurred
damages, and suffered ascertainable losses in money and property. Had the Plaintiff and
proposed class members known of the Electrical Fire Defect, they would not have
purchased and/or leased those vehicles, or would have paid substantially less for them.
Engine fire in the Affected Class Vehicles also requires expensive repairs, car rentals, car
payments, towing charges, property damage, time off work, other miscellaneous costs, and
loss of use. Further, because of the Electrical Fire Defect and the Defendants concealment,
the Affected Class Vehicles have a lower market value and are inherently worth less than

they otherwise would be.

The Plaintiff seeks relief for all other owners and/or lessees of the Affected Class Vehicles
with the Electrical Fire Defect, including, inter alia, recovery of damages and/or repair under
various provincial consumer protection legislation, breach of express warranty, breach of
implied warranty of merchantability and reimbursement of all expenses associated with the
repair and/or replacement of the Affected Class Vehicles.

The Parties

The Representative Plaintiff

11.

12

The Plaintiff, MARY THERESE WOLFE, is a resident of Pemberton, British Columbia,

Canada.

In or about November 2020 the Plaintiff purchased a pre-owned 2017 Kia Sportage (“Kia
Sportage”) from Kia South Vancouver, a Kia deaiership, in Vancouver, British Columbia for
approximately $28,000.00 with a 7 year warranty. The Plaintiff's Kia Sportage is an Affected
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Class Vehicle equipped with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire Defect;

The Plaintiffs Kia Sportage was designed, manufactured - and/or assembled:b.y:the‘ 2
Defendant, KMC, in South Korea and marketed, promoted, advertised, distributed andfor
sold in Canada by the Defendants, KCI, KMC and/or KMA.

The Plaintiffs decision to purchase the Kia Sportage was based upon the vehicle’s
purported reputation for safety and dependability, which she relied upon. Despite touting
the safety and dependability of their Affected Class Vehicles, at no pointdid the Defendants,
KMC, KCI and/or KMA, or their agents, dealers or other representatives disclose the
Electrical Fire Defect to the Plaintiff.

In or about May 2021 the Plaintiff brought her Kia Sportage to Kia South Vancouver for
servicing. At the time the Plaintiff advised the Kia South Vancouver that she had noticed
a burning smell. Despite the Defendants , KMC, KCI and/or KMA, having issued a safety
recall campaign in March 2021 that model years 2017-2021 Kia Sportage and 2017-2019
Cadenza vehicles were equipped with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire Defect and
that such affected vehicles may exhibit numerous warnings, including, inter alia, a burning
or melting smell, Kia South Vancouver advised the Plaintiff that there were no outstanding

recalls pending on her Kia Sportage

On or about April 6, 2022, at or near Pemberton, British Columbia, the Plaintiffs Kia
Sportage erupted into flames as a result of the Electrical Fire Defect. The vehicle sustained
substantial damage and was a total loss. The vehicle fire also destroyed the Plaintiffs
personal property, and other such items, which were in the Kia Sportage at the time.
Further, the vehicle fire caused damage to another vehicle that was parked next to the
Plaintiff's Kia Sportage and to the land on which the Kia Sportage was on The Plaintiff has
suffered ascertainable losses as a result of the Defendants’, KMC'’s, KCI's and/or KMA’s,
omissions and misrepresentations associated with the Electrical Fire Defect, including, but
not limited to, out of pocket losses associated with the Electrical Fire Defect, out of pocket
losses associated with the vehicle fire, diminished value of her vehicle, increased risk to her
safety and other consequential damages. The Plaintiff would not have purchased her Kia
Sportage had she known about the Electrical Fire Defect.
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

23.

24.

The Defendant, HACC, is a company duly incorporated pursuant {o- the laws of Canada,
registered within British Columbia under number AD069704,. and asa registered agent,
BHT Management Inc., at #1800 - 510 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia,
V6B 0M3, Canada.

The Defendant, HMC, is a company duly incorporated pursuant the to the laws of Korea and
has an address for service at 12, Heolleung-ro, Seocho-gu, Seoul, South Korea.

The Defendant, HMA, is a company duly incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of
California, one of the United States of America, and has a registered agent, National
Registered Agents, Inc., at 10550 Talbert, Avenue, Fountain Valley, California, 92708,
United States of America.

The Defendant, HMMA, is a is a company duly incorporated pursuant to the laws of the
State of Alabama, one of the United States of America, and has a registered agent, Richard
E. Neal, at 700 Hyundai Boulevard, Montgomery, Alabama, 36105, United States of
America.

The Defendant, KCI, is a company duly incorporated pursuant to the laws of Canada,
registered within British Columbia under number A0085732, and has a registered agent,
FMD Service (B.C.) Inc., at #2900 - 550 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C
0A3, Canada.

The Defendant, KMC, is a company duly incorporated pursuant the to the laws of South
Korea and has an address for service at 12, Heolleung-ro, Seocho-gu, Seoul, South Korea.

The Defendant, KMA, is a company duly incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State of
Callifornia, one of the United States of America, and has a registered agent, C T Corporation

System, at 111 Peters Canyon Road, Irvine, California, 92606, United States of America.

The Defendant, KMMG, is a company duly incorporated pursuant to the laws of the State
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of Georgia, one of the United States of ‘America, and has a registered agent, C T
Corporation System, at 289 S Culver Street,:Lawrenceville, Georgia, 30046-4805, United
States of America. .

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, HACC, was, and is, a
wholly owned North American subsidiary of the Defendant, HMC, which, inter alia, markets,
advertises, distributes and/or sells Hyundai vehicles, including certain Affected Class
Vehicles, as averred to. in paragraph 3 herein, equipped with the HECU containing the
Electrical Fire Defect in Canada, and within the Province of British Columbia.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, HMC, designs,
manufacturers, assembles, markets, advertises, distributes and/or sells- Hyundai vehicles,
including certain Affected Class Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, equipped
with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire Defect, through its related subsidiaries and/or
operating units, including the Defendants, HACC, HMA and/or HMMA, independentretailers
and authorized dealerships in the United States of America and Canada. The Defendant,
HMC, also provides all the technical information for the purposes of designing,
manufacturing, servicing and/or repairing the Affected Class Vehicles to it's subsidiaries,
including the Defendants, HMA, HACC and HMMA.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, HMA, was, and is, a
wholly owned North American subsidiary of the Defendant, HMC, which, inter alia, markets,
advertises, distributes and/or sells Hyundai vehicles, including certain Affected Class
Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, equipped with the HECU containing the
Electrical Fire Defect, in the United States of America and/or Canada, including the
Province of British Columbia.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, HMMA, was, and is, a
wholly owned North American subsidiary of the Defendant, HMC, which, inter alia, designs,
manufactures and/or assembles Hyundai vehicles, including certain Affected Class
Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, equipped with the HECU containing the
Electrical Fire Defect, at an automobile plant located in the State of Alabama, United States
of America, for distribution and/or sale in the United States of America and/or Canada,
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including the Province of British Columbia.

At all material times to the:cause of action herein, the Defendant, HACC, was responsible
for the distribution, service and/or repair of Hyundai vehicles in Canada, including, inter alia,
the Hyundai Affected Class Vehicles.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA
and/or HMMA, shared the common purpose of, inter alia, designing, developing,
manufacturing, assembling, marketing, distributing, supplying and/or selling Hyundai
vehicles, including certain Affected Class Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein,
equipped with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire Defect in Canada, and within the
Province of British Columbia. F urther, the business and interests of the Defendants, HACC,
HMC, HMA and/or HMMA, are interwoven with that of the other as to the Electrical Fire
Defect in certain Affected Class Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, such that
each is the agent of the other.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, KCi, was, and is, a wholly
owned North American subsidiary of the Defendant, KMC, which, inter alia, markets,
advertises, distributes and/or sells Kia vehicles, including certain Affected Class Vehicles,
as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, equipped with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire
Defect in Canada, and within the Province of British Columbia.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, KMC, designs,
manufacturers, assembles, markets, advertises, distributes and/or sells Kia vehicles,
including certain Affected Class Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, equipped
with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire Defect, through its related subsidiaries and/or
operating units, including the Defendants, KCI, KMA and/or KMMG, independent retailers
and authorized dealerships in the United States of America and Canada. The Defendant,
KMC, also provides all the technical information for the purposes of designing,
manufacturing, servicing and/or repairing the Affected Class Vehicles to it's subsidiaries,
including the Defendants, KCI, KMA and KMMG.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, KMA, was, and is, a
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wholly:.owned North American subsidiary of the Defendant, KMC, which, inter alia, markets,

. adveruses, distributes and/or sells Kia vehicles, including certain Affected Class Vehicles, - ..ot
as aveired fo in paragraph 3 herein, equipped with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire-: . - ..
- Defect, in the United States of America and/or Canada, including the Province of British. - 7-:-.x .

Columbia:

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, KMMG, was, and is, a
wholly owned North American subsidiary of the Defendant, KMC, which, inter alia, designs,
manufactures and/or assembles Kia vehicles, including certain Affected Class Vehicles, as
averred to in paragraph 3 herein, equipped with the HECU containing the Electrical Fire
Defect, at an automobile plant located in the State of Georgia, United States of America, for
distribution and/or sale in the United States of America and/or Canada, including the
Province of British Columbia.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, KCI, was responsible for
the distribution, service and/or repair, of Kia vehicles in Canada, including, inter alia, the
Kia Affected Class Vehicles.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendants, KCI, KMC, KMA and/or
KMMG, shared the common purpose of, inter alia, designing, developing, manufacturing,
assembling, marketing, distributing, supplying and/or selling Kia vehicles, including certain
Affected Class Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, equipped with the HECU
containing the Electrical Fire Defectin Canada, and within the Province of British Columbia.
Further, the business and interests of the Defendants, KCI, KMC, KMA and/or KMMG, are
interwoven with that of the other as to the Electrical Fire Defect in certain Affected Class
Vehicles, as averred to in paragraph 3 herein, such that each is the agent of the other.

At all material times to the cause of action herein, the Defendant, HMC, together with the
Defendants, HACC, HMA, HMMA, KCI, KMC, KMA and KMMG, comprise the Hyundai
Motor Group, which designs, manufactures, assembles, markets, distributes and/or sells
the Affected Class Vehicles.

Hereinafter, the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA and HMMA, are collectively referred to as
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. the Defendant, “HYUNDALI", the Defendants, KCI, KMC, KMA and KMMG, are’collectively .

referred to as the Defendant, “KIA”, and/or further, collectively as the “Defendants’, unless

referred to individually or otherwise.

The Class

This action is brought on behalf of members of a class consisting of the Plaintiff, all British
Columbia residents, and all other persons resident in Canada, excluding the Province of
Quebec, who own, owned, lease and/or leased an Affected Class Vehicle (“Class” or “Class
Members”), excluding employees, officers, directors, agents of the Defendants and their
family members, class counsel, presiding judges and any person who has commenced an
individual proceeding against or delivered a release to the Defendants concerning the
subject of this proceeding, or such other class definition or class period as the Court may

ultimately decide on the application for certification.

Factual Allegations

i. The Electrical Fire Defect

The Affected Class Vehicles are equipped with ABS that modulates brake pressure to
prevent the wheels from locking up, thereby allowing the driver to maintain control and stop
the vehicle as quickly as possible. ABS is a critical safety element of the Affected Class

Vehicles and these systems are required in all vehicles sold in North America.

The ABS consists of the wheel sensors and the control module that connect to the vehicle’s
hydraulic brake system. The ABS control module is typically located in the vehicle’s engine
compartment, and the wheel sensors are attached to the tires, near the brake rotors. The

ABS control module is connected to and powered by the vehicle’s electrical fuse box.

As the ABS control module is made up of both the Hydraulic Control Unit (HCU) and the
Electronic Control Unit (ECU), it is also referred to as the HECU. The Defendants,
HYUNDAI and KIA, use the terms ABS control module and HECU interchangeably when

referring to the same component, including in the Affected Class Vehicles’ recalls.
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As the HECU requires an electrical ‘current during operation, the component must be
carefully sealed to avoid moisture or liquid reaching its:circuiis, which can cause corrosion
or short circuit resulting in engine fire.-

The HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles is inadequateiy seaied around its electronic
components, permitting moisture—either from hydraulic fluid or other sources—to penetrate
the seal and contact the electronic components in the HECU. The HECU also remains
charged even when the vehicle is not running. The moisture contacting the charged

electronic components causes a short circuit.

A short circuit can cause spontaneous fire in the HECU, which can quickly spread
throughout the engine compartment and the entire car. The Electrical Fire Defect poses
serious safety issues for drivers and occupants of the Affected Class Vehicles, as well as
uninvolved bystanders. Numerous fire incidents in Affected Class Vehicles reported to
NHTSA illustrate the danger involved when vehicles can spontaneously erupt into flames,

while being driven and/or parked.

The Defendants failed to adequately research, design, test, and manufacture the Affected
Class Vehicles before warranting, advertising, promoting, marketing, and selling the
Affected Class Vehicles as suitable and safe for use in an intended and reasonably

foreseeable manner.

ii. The Electrical Fire Defect results in a serious risk of spontaneous fires across
multiple models and years of Defendants’ vehicles, and the Defendants were

aware of such dangers

The Defendants knew or ought to have known about the Electrical Fire Defect as evidenced
by: (1) consumer complaints lodged with NHTSA, Transport Canada and elsewhere online;
(2) warranty claims, part sales, and consumer complaints lodged with the Defendants
directly; (3) technical service bulletins and safety recalls issued by the Defendants in an
attempt to address the Electrical Fire Defect; and (4) the Defendants’ own pre-sale durability
testing of the Affected Class Vehicles.
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The Defendants also ought.to -have: known. about the Electrical Fire Defect based on
historical ABS module leaks:ifr theienehiclés that were mishandled by the Defendant, HMA,

. and resulted in administrative: penalties: In°'Qctober 2013; the Defendant, HMA, recalled

2009-2012 Hyundai Genesis vehicies in the United States due to-a defect where brake fluid
entered and corroded the module. The:Deferidant, HYUNDAI, admitted a corroded HECU

could affect braking effectiveness and'increase the risk of a crash.

The Defendant, HYUNDAI, did not recall such vehicles until a year after learning about the
defect from the HECU supplier, and even though another vehicle manufacturer using the
same component recalled its vehicles more than a year before. In 2014, the Defendant,
HYUNDAI, was fined $17.35 million dollars (USD) for failing to timely report the HECU
corrosion defect. NHTSA determined that the Defendant, HYUNDAI, knowingly withheld
information about the dangerous safety defect from vehicle owners and delayed issuing a
recall. Further, the related administrative consent decree required the Defendant,
HYUNDAI, to maintain a Technical Committee for review all potential defects and consider
the necessity of safety recalls. This Technical Committee knew or ought to have known

about the Electrical Fire Defect based on its function and role.

iiii. NHTSA and other online complaints evidence the Electrical Fire Defect in
Affected Class Vehicles dating back as far as 2011

The internet is replete with consumer complaints about the Electrical Fire Defect in the
Affected Class Vehicles. The Defendants’ customer relations departments routinely monitor
the internet for customer complaints and retain the services of third parties to do the same.
The Defendants’ customer relations divisions regularly receive and respond to customer
calls concerning, inter alia, product defects. Through these sources, the Defendants were
made aware of the Electrical Fire Defect. The complaints also indicate the Defendants

knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect and its potential danger.

All vehicle manufacturers, including the Defendants, are required by government regulations
in the United States (49 U.S. Code 301 - Motor Vehicle Safety Act ) and Canada (Motor
Vehicle Safety Act, R.S.C.1993, c.16), and related regulations, to submit quarterly
submissions to NHTSA and Transport Canada of “early warning reporting” data, including
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claims relating- to ‘property damage. received by the automotive manufacturer, warranty’

claims paid by the:aittormotive manufacturer, consumer complaints, incidents involving injury .

or death; and: field:reports prepared by the automotive manufacturer's employees or-
representatives:cencerning failure, malfunetion, lack of durability, or other performance

issues. Further; all automotive manufacturers, including the Defendants, routinely monitor

and analyze NHTSA and/or Transport Canada complaints to determine whether vehicles

or automotive components should be recalled due to safety concerns. As such, the

Defendants have knowledge of all NHTSA and/or Transport Canada complaints.

Complaints submitted to Defendants and to NHTSA via Vehicle Owner Questionnaires

(“VvOQ”) reveal many of Defendants’ vehicles catching on fire.

In the NHTSA database, scores of drivers of Affected Class Vehicles have reported

spontaneous fires erupting in their engine compartments.

As far back as April 2011, one such complaint was lodged with NHTSA by the owner of a
2010 Hyundai Elantra, stating that the “6-month old Hyundai Elantra Touring caught fire
after sitting in [the] driveway for nine hours.” After a forensic engineer inspected the vehicle,
they correctly “concluded that the fire was electrical and originated in the engine
compartment.” At that time, Defendants had yet to issue any recalls or publicly acknowledge
any defect in the Affected Class Vehicles resulting in spontaneous engine compartment

fires.
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iv. Warranty claims, part sales, and customer complaints lodged with Defendants
also alerted Defendants to the Electrical Fire Defect.

. The Defendants knew or ought to have known about the Electrical Fire Defect because of

the sheer number of reports they received regarding the HECU shorts and engine
compartment fires. For instance, the Defendants’ customer relations departments, which
interact with Defendants’ authorized service technicians to identify potentially widespread
vehicle problems and assist in the diagnosis of vehicle issues, have received numerous
reports of engine problems relating to the HECU shorts and engine compartment fires.
Customer relations also collects and analyze field data including, but not limited to, repair
requests made at dealerships and service centers, technical reports prepared by engineers
that have reviewed vehicles for which warranty coverage is requested, parts sales reports,
and warranty claims data.

96. The Defendants’ warranty departments similarly review and analyze warranty data

submitted by their dealerships and authorized technicians to identify defect trends in their
vehicles. The Defendants dictate that when a repair is made under warranty (or warranty
coverage is requested), service centers must provide them with detailed documentation of
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the problem and the fix that describes the complaint, cause, and correctioh, and must also
save the broken part should the Defendants later decide to audit the dealziship or otherwise
verify the warranty repair. Service centers are meticulous about providing:this detailed
information about in-warranty repairs to the Defendants because the veticle manufacturers
will not pay the service centers for the repair if the complaint; cause, and correction are not

sufficiently described.

S57. The Defendants also knew or ought to have known about the Electrical Fire Defect because

of the high number of replacement parts likely ordered from Defendants. All authorized
Hyundai and Kia service centers are required to order replacement parts, including HECU
modules, directly from the Defendants. Other independent vehicle repair shops that service
Affected Class Vehicles also order replacement parts directly from Defendants. The
Defendants routinely monitor part sales reports, and they are responsible for shipping parts
requested by dealerships and technicians. The Defendants have detailed, accurate, and
real-time data regarding the number and frequency of replacement part orders. The
increase in orders for HECU and ABS control module components used in the Affected
Class Vehicles was known to the Defendants and should have alerted the vehicle
manufacturers to the scope and severity of the Electrical Fire Defect.

58. The Defendants are experienced in the design and manufacture of consumer vehicles. As

64.59.

experienced vehicle manufacturers, the Defendants likely conduct testing on incoming
batches of components, including the HECU and ABS control modules at issue here, to
verify that the parts are free from defects and comply with Defendants’ specifications.
Accordingly, Defendants knew or ought to have known that the HECU used in the Affected
Class Vehicles was defective and prone to fire, costing the Plaintiff and Class Members

thousands of dollars in engine repair expenses.

V. Defendants’ belated, piecemeal, inadequate, and incomplete recalls evidence

their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

From 2016 to present, the Defendants have reluctantly and belatedly recalled in North
America hundreds of thousands of vehicles—including some Affected Class

Vehicles—spanning many models and years for the same Electrical Fire Defect.
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The recalls have similarities that indicate a common defect: (1) they all generally identify
short-circuiting in the HECU as a fire risk; (2) they-ail focus on mitigating the risks of engine
fires, but the proposed remedies do not eliminate: such:risk; (3) they all direct consumers
to park their vehicles outside and away from structures; and (4) they all fail to identify the
exact root cause of the defect, leaving consumers without a safe or adequate fix.

2016 Recalls of Affected Class Vehicles

In November 2016, the Defendant, KIA, first recalled in the United States MY 2008-2009
Kia Sportage vehicles for the Electrical Fire Defect (approximately 71,704 vehicles),
explaining that the HECU was improperly sealed and moisture could enter the HECU,
corroding the component and creating a risk of engine compartment fires. But the recall
failed to disclose the HECU was constantly electrically charged, and the Defendant, KIA,
did not offer to fix this aspect of the Electrical Fire Defect, nor warn that the Electrical Fire
Defect extended to multiple other Defendants, HYUNDAI and KIA, vehicle models and

years.

Also in November 2016 Transport Canada issued a similar recall for MY Kia Sportage
vehicles for the Electrical Fire Defect (approximately 10,115 vehicles) explaining the

following:

On certain vehicles, the connector pins within the Hydraulic Electronic
Control Unit (HECU) assembly can corrode due to improper sealing of the
HECU’s wire harness cover. If moisture and road salt reaches the HECU'’s
circuit board, electrical shirt circuits may occur to the circuit board, which
could increase the risk of an underhood fire causing injury and/or property

damage.

Similarly, the recall failed to disclose the HECU was constantly electrically charged, and the
Defendant, KIA, did not offer to fix this aspect of the Electrical Fire Defect, nor warn that the
Electrical Fire Defect extended to multiple other Defendants, HYUNDAI and KIA, vehicle

models and years.
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2018 Recalls of Affected Class Vehicles

65:63. Two years later, in January 2018, the Defendant, HYUNDAI, recalled in the United States-
‘MY 2006-2011 Hyundai Azera and MY 2006 Hyundai Senata vehicles for the Electrical Fire
Defect (approximately 87;854.vehicles). The Defendant, HMA, acknowledged the Electrical
Fire Defect and its assdciated fire risk were related to the constantly charged ABS control
module, and the proposed remedy was to install a relay in the vehicle’s main junction box
that would power down the HECU when the ignition switch was turned off. But the
Defendant, HYUNDALI, failed to disclose that moisture entering the ABS control module
posed a fire risk also while the car was on, and that the Electrical Fire Defect extended to
multiple other Defendants, HYUNDAI and KIA, vehicle models and years.

66:64. Also in January 2018 Transport Canada issued a similar recall for MY 2006-2009 Hyundai
Azera and MY 2006 Hyundai Sonata vehicles for the Electrical Fire Defect (approximately
3,364 vehicles) explaining the following:

On certain vehicles equipped with an anti-lock brake system (ABS), the ABS
module remains power on when the vehicle is turned off. If moisture were
to enter the module, over time, an electrical short could occur, which could
increase the risk of an underhood fire causing injury and property damage.

Similarly, the proposed remedy was to install a relay in the vehicle’s main junction box that
would power down the ABS module when the ignition switch was turned off. But the
Defendant, HYUNDALI, failed to disclose that moisture entering the ABS control module
posed a fire risk also while the car was on, and that the Electrical Fire Defect extended to
multiple other Defendants, HYUNDAI and KIA, vehicle models and years.

6765. Starting in 2018, the Defendants came under public and political scrutiny in the United
States for thousands of engine fire incidents, including those that are the subject of this
proposed class' proceedings, reported by consumers across North America, and for their

failure to timely address and fix the affected vehicles.

66-66. In 2019, NHTSA’s Office of Defects Investigation (“ODI") opened an investigation into the
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Defendants’ practices after the Center for Auto Safety petitioned the agency to investigate
the plague of:non-collision fires in Hyundai and Kia vehicles. In response, the Defendants
began-issuing piecemeal recalls of many different vehicles, including some of the Affected-
-Class.Vehicles.

2020 Recalis of Affected Class Vehicles

67. InFebruary 2020, Defendants recalled in the United States MY 2007-2010 Hyundai Elantra,

MY 2009-2011 Hyundai Elantra Touring, MY 2007-2008 Hyundai Entourage, MY 2007
Hyundai Santa Fe, MY 2006-2010 Kia Sedona, and MY 2007-2009 Kia Sorento for the
Electrical Fire Defect (approximately 704,940 vehicles). The Defendants admitted they had
not ascertained the cause of the moisture entering the HECU, and that the continually
powered ABS module posed a fire risk when the vehicle was turned off. The purported
remedy was the same relay installation as in the earlier recall.

. Also in February 2020, Transport Canada issued a similar recall for MY 2007-2010 Hynudai
Elantra, MY 2009-2011 Hyundai Elantra Touring, MY 2007-2009 Hyundai Entourage, MY
2006-201Kia Sedona and MY2007-2009 Kia Sorento for the Electrical Fire Defect (
approximately 54,416 vehicles) explaining the following:

Issue:
On certain vehicles equipped with an anti-lock brake system (ABS), moisture
can enter the ABS control module and cause a short circuit.

Safety Risk:
A short circuit could create a fire risk. This can happen even if the vehicle
is parked.

Issue:
On certain vehicles, moisture can enter the brake Hydraulic Electronic

Control Unit (HECU) and cause a short circuit.

Safety Risk:
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A short circuit could create a fire risk. This can happen even if the vehicle. . -
is parked. '

In August and September 2020, the Defendants recalled in the United States: MY

-~ 2013-2015 Kia Optima, MY 2014-2015 Kia Sorento, MY 2019 Kia Stinger, MY 20.13:2015

Hyundai Santa Fe Sport, and MY 2019-2021 Hyundai Tucson (approximately- 781,018
vehicles) for the Electrical Fire Defect. The Defendant, HYUNDAI, claimed the Tucson
vehicles had HECU components with defective circuit boards that could cause engine fires
while parked or driving, blaming manufacturing quality control for the Electrical Fire Defect,
and failing to provide a remedy other than inspection of the HECU. The Defendants claimed
the Santa Fe Sport, Optima, and Sorento vehicles also had HECU components susceptible
to electrical shorts and fires because of brake fluid leaking into the HECU. Again, the
Defendants blamed improper manufacturing and provided only inspection and replacement
of affected HECU components. The Defendant, KIA, claimed the Stingers were susceptible
to engine fire originating from the HECU but admitted the cause of fire was unknown. Like
prior recalls, the hallmarks of the Electrical Fire Defect were present: short-circuiting HECU
components resulting in engine fires, inadequate fixes or no fix at all, and instructions to

park the vehicles outside and away from structures.

70. Also in August and September 2020, Transport Canada recalled MY 2014-2015 Kia

Sorento, MY 2018-2021 Kia Stinger and MY 2013-2015 Hyundai Santa Fe Sport
(approximately 77,300 vehicles) for the Electrical Fire Defect, explaining the following:

Issue:

On certain vehicles, brake fluid can enter the brake Hydraulic Electronic
Control Unit (HECU) and cause a short circuit.

Note: This problem may cause the ABS warning light to turn on.

Safety Risk:

A short circuit could create a fire risk.

Like prior Transport Canada recails, the hallmarks of the Electrical Fire Defect were present:

short-circuiting HECU components resulting in engine fires, inadequate fixes or no fix at all,



-54-

and instructions to park the vehicles outside and away from structures.

In December 2020, the Defendant, HYUNDAI; -expanded iis. tecall-in the United States to
include MY 2016-2018 Hyundai Tucson vehicles (nearly 500,000 additional vehicles) for the
Electrical Fire Defect. The problem was the same—ABS moduies that could short-circuit
internally and cause and an engine fire while parked or driving-~andstill no root cause was
identified. The Defendant’s, HYUNDALI's, purported remedy was to inspect and replace the
fuse in these components with a lower amperage fuse to “limit the operating current of the
ABS module” and update the Electronic Stability Control software.

72. In December 2020, the Defendant, KIA, also expanded its recall in the United States to

include MY 2018, 2020-2021 Kia Stinger vehicles (nearly 19,000 additional vehicles) for the
Electrical Fire Defect. These vehicles were equipped with the same HECU as the recalled

Hyundai Tucsons.

73. In December 2020 Transport Canada also expanded its recall to include MY 2016-2021

76:74.

715,

Hyundai Tucson vehicles ( approximately 144,700 vehicles) for the Electrical Fire Defect.
Again, the problem was the same—ABS modules that could short-circuit internally and
cause and an engine fire while parked or driving—and still no root cause was identified. The
Defendant’s, HYUNDALI’s, purported remedy was to revise the ABS fuse wiring and update
the ABS control module and recommended that the vehicle should be parked outdoors and

away from other vehicles or structures.

2021 Recalls of Affected Class Vehicles

In March 2021, the Defendant, KIA, recalled in the United States MY 2017-2021 Kia
Sportage and MY 2017-2019 Kia Cadenza vehicles for the Electrical Fire Defect
(approximately 379,931 vehicles). As a result of the fire risk emanating from the HECU
location, the Defendant, KIA, warned drivers to “park outside and away from structures” to
avoid catastrophic fires. Again, an electrical short could occur within the HECU, but

Defendants did not know the cause.

One week later, in March 2021, the Defendant, HYUNDAI, recalled in the United States MY
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2015-2016 Hyundai Genesis and MY.2017-2020 Hyundai Genesis G80 vehicles for the
Electrical Fire Defect (approximately 94,845 vehicles). Consumers were advised to park
their vehicles outside and away from struciures until a new, lower amperage fuse could be

installed in the ABS-module to limit its operating current.

76. In April and May 2021 respectively, the Deferidants; HYUNDAI and KIA, announced new

recalls in the United States for MY 2013-2015 Hyundai Santa Fe Sport, MY 2013-2015 Kia
Optima, and MY 2014-2015 Kia Sorento vehicles that had been subject to earlier recalls for
the Electrical Fire Defect. The Defendants claimed these new recalls were necessary to
offer a different “fix”: installation of a new fuse with lower amperage in the HECU to limit

overcurrent and shorting in the component.

77. In March 2021, Transport Canada recalled MY 2017-2020 Hyundai Genesis G80 and MY

2015-2016 Hyundai Genesis vehicles for the Electrical Fire Defect (approximately 4,756
vehicles). Again, the problem was the same—ABS modules that could short-circuit internally

and cause and an engine fire while parked or driving—and still no root cause was identified.

78. In April 2021, Transport Canada recalled MY 2013-2016 Hyundai Santa Fe Sport vehicles

8+79.

for the Electrical Fire Defect (approximately 52,304 vehicle). Again, the problem was the
same-brake fluid entering the HECU which could cause a short circuit. Canadian consumers
were advised to park their vehicles outside and away from structures until a new, lower

amperage fuse could be installed in the ABS module to limit its operating current.

2022 Recalls of Affected Class Vehicles

In February 2022, the Defendants, HYUNDAI and KIA, recalled in the United States an
additional 484,577 Hyundai and Kia vehicles for the Electrical Fire Defect: MY 2016-2018
Hyundai Santa Fe, MY 2017-2018 Santa Fe Sport, MY 2019 Santa Fe XL, MY 2014-2015
Hyundai Tucson, MY 2016-2018 Kia K900, and MY 2014-2016 Kia Sportage. As with prior
recalls, the Defendants could not determine the root cause of the fire risk but pointed to
short circuiting in the HECU or- ABS module. The Defendants instructed American
consumers to park their vehicles outside and away from other vehicles or structures until

inspection or replacement of the HECU or ABS module and/or its fuse.
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82:80. In-February 2022, Transport Canada issued a recall for MY 2016-2018 Hyundai Santa Fe,

MY 2017-2018 Santa Fe Sport, MY 2019 Santa Fe XL, 2014-2015 Tucson, MY 2016-2018
Kia K200.and MY 2014-2016 Kia Sportage (approximately 80926 vehicles)for the Electrical. .
Fire Defect: As with ptior-Transport Canada recalls, the Defendants could not determine the
root cause of the firerisk but pointed to short circuiting in the HECU or ABS module. The
Defendants instructed:Canadian consumers to park their vehicles outside and away from
other vehicles or structures until inspection or replacement of the HECU or ABS module

and/or its fuse.

2023 Recalls of Affected Class Vehicles

In September 2023, the Defendants, HYUNDAI and KIA, recalled in the United States an
additional 3,372,743 Hyundai and Kia vehicles for the Electrical Fire Defect: MY 2012-2015
Hyundai Accent, MY 2012-2015 Hyundai Azera, MY 2011-2015 Hyundai Elantra, MY 2013-
2015 Elantra Coupe, MY 2014-2015 Hyundai Equus, MY 2011-2015 Hyundai Genesis
Coupe, MY 2013-2015 Hyundai Santa Fe, MY 2013 Hyundai Santa Fe Sport, MY 2011-
2015 Hyundai Sonata Hybrid, MY 2010-2013 Hyundai Tucson, MY 2015 Hyundai Tucson
Fuel Cell, MY 2012-2015 Hyundai Veloster, MY 2010-2012-Hyundai Veracruz, MY 2010-
2019 Kia Borrego, MY 2014-2016 Kia Cadenza, MY 2010-2013 Kia Forte, MY 2010-2013
Kia Forte Koup, MY 2015-2018 Kia K900, MY 2011-2015 Kia Optima, MY 2011-2013 Kia
Optima Hybrid, MY 2012-2017 Kia Rio, MY 2010-2011 Kia Rondo, MY 2011-2014 Kia
Sorento, MY 2011-2013 Kia Soul and MY 2010-2013 Kia Sportage. As with prior recalls, the
Defendants could not determine the root cause of the fire risk but pointed to short circuiting

in the HECU or ABS module. The Defendants instructed American consumers to park their

vehicles outside and away from other vehicles or structures until inspection or replacement
of the HECU or ABS module and/or its fuse.

In September 2023 , Transport Canada issued a recall for MY 2012-2015 Hyundai Accent,
MY 2011-2015 Hyundai Elantra, MY 2014-2015 Hyundai Equus, MY 2011-2015 Hyundai
Genesis Coupe, MY 2013-2015 Hyundai Santa Fe, MY 2013 Santa Fe Sport,-MY 2010-
2013 Tucson, MY 2010-2012 Hyundai Veracruz, MY 2010-2011 Kia Borrego, MY 2014-
2016 Kia Cadenza, MY 2010-2013 Kia Forte, MY 2010-2013 Kia Forte Koup, MY 2015 Kia
K900, MY 2010-2015 Kia Optima, MY 2012-2017 Kia Rio, MY 2010-2017 Kia Rondo, MY




83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

-57-

'20711-2014 Kia Sorento, MY 2011-2013 Kia Soul and MY 2010 Kia Sportage (603167 . -
Caviryahicles) for the Electrical Fire Defect. As with prior Transport Canada recalls: the s o

- Deéfendants could not determine the root cause of the fire risk but pointed to short circuiting. = .= ¢

*.ii the HECU or ABS module. The Defendants instructed Canadian consumers to park:-their .= .2

" “vepnigles outside and away from other vehicles or structures until inspection or replacement -0
~-0f the. HECU or ABS module and/or its fuse.

All of Defendants’ proposed recall remedies for the Electrical Fire Defect fail to eliminate
the spontaneous engine compartment fire risk in the Affected Class Vehicles. The
Defendants’ first remedy proposed to replace the connector cover of the defective HECU.
The Defendants’ second remedy proposed to install a relay in the fuse box to stop the
HECU'’s electrical current when the car is off. These two purported remedies do not fix the
underlying issue of a HECU design that is already susceptible to moisture and electrical

short, particularly while the car is in operation and the electrical current is active.

The Defendants’ third remedy proposed installation of a lower amperage fuse into the
Affected Class Vehicles’ HECU or HECU replacement altogether if the presence of a brake
fluid leak is detected in the unit. It is unclear how this purported remedy will eliminate the
fire risk, but more importantly, changing the fuse amperage has the capability to
unintentionally affect or impair other vehicle components and functions, possibly

endangering or damaging proposed Class Members.

To date, the Defendants have failed to identify the exact root cause of the Electrical Fire

Defect or provide an adequate remedy.

Amidst all these recalls, in November 2020, NHTSA announced consent orders with the
Defendants, HMA and KMA, for combined penalties of $210 million dollars (USD) over a
separate but equally troubling engine defect that caused engine failure and even fire. The
consent orders and assessed penalties were the result of Hyundai and Kia’s “untimely
recalls of over 1.6 million vehicles...and inaccurately reportfing] certain information to

NHTSA regarding the recalls.”

Given the Defendants’ slow issue of recalls over time for the same Electrical Fire Defect,
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the recent recall of additional vehicles for the first time, and.persistent reports of.
non-collision engine fires across many medels, the Plaintiff has:reason to:believe the
Electrical Fire Defect extends beyond the Affected Class Vehicles plead-here. As such, the
Plaintiff and proposed Class Members reserve their right to amend the definition.of Affected

Class Vehicles as discovery warrants.

vi. The Defendants knew or ought to have known about the Electrical Fire Defect

given their rigorous pre-sale durability testing

The Defendants are experienced in the design and manufacture of consumer vehicles. As
experienced vehicle manufacturers, the Defendants conduct tests like pre-sale durability
testing on incoming vehicles and components, including the HECU, to verify the parts are

free from defects and align with the Defendants’ specifications.

The Defendants have long touted the joint-testing facility they maintain in California, known
as the “Proving Grounds.” Opened in 2005, the Proving Grounds—a $60 million dollar
(USD) facility—was designed as a test site for the next-generation Hyundai and Kia
vehicles, reaffirming the companies commitment to designing, testing, and building Hyundai
and Kia vehicles for North American consumers. All vehicles tested at the facility must pass
a 30,000 miles accelerated durability test and a 100,000 miles field fleet durability test to
be sold in North America. Such rigorous testing is intended to simulate up to five years wear

and tear.

The Defendant, KIA, conducts expansive pre-sale durability testing on its vehicles to make
sure they endure over a long time without fault. This pre-sale testing includes seven
different types of durability tests: (1) an item durability test; (2) a module durability test; (3)
a Belgian road test; (4) a high-speed test; (5) a corrosion test; (6) a P/T test; and (7) a
vehicle test. The Defendant, KIA, conducts these tests in extreme weather conditions

including coldness and heat.

In addition, the Defendant’s, KIA’s, validation testing is among the toughest in the
automotive industry. Among other things, this validation testing runs the engine at maximum

throttle (the maximum speed the engine can operate under) while under full load so as to
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stress the components as much as possible non-stop for 300 hours. After, the Defendant,
KIA, does an “overrun spec” where it runs it-over spec-for 10-20 hours to make sure it can
survive past the red line limits-in order to make sure’ihese products stay durable in the

customers’ hands.

Further, the Defendant, KIA, also uses the most extreme and rigorous vehicle testing
program ever devised by the company. As part of this. test, the Defendant. KIA, stimulates
stop-and-go driving repeated over several times to put additional strain on the engine,
transmission and HVAC systems and eliminate any possible flaws. In addition, at its Mojave
Proving Grounds test site, the Defendant, KIA, utilizes a high-speed oval, gravel off-road
tracks, high-vibration road surfaces, brake test facilities and different gradients that enable
engineers to evaluate and refine the ride, handling, brakes and NVH of prototype and

production vehicles.

Touting its safety and durability testing, the Defendant’s, KIA's, website declares, “We put
our engines through rigorous testing in the highest, hottest, and coldest places that a car

can possibly be before we put them in our cars.”

Similarly, the Defendant, HYUNDAI, conducts durability testing on its vehicles that is like
the Defendant’s, KiA’'s, testing.

The Defendant, HYUNDAI, when talking about its safety and durability testing, even goes
so far as to refer to an “added safety feature” called “Hyundai Assurance,” claiming to “leave
parts out in the sun for years on end to make sure they’ll stand up to even the most extreme
heat,” “punish our vehicles over rough terrain, hairpin turns and pothole-riddied highways,”
and “simulate America’s most demanding driving conditions, over and over and over again”
so that Hyundai is “completely satisfied that every Hyundai is durable, reliable, and
battle-tested.”
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The Electrical Fire Defect is precisely the type of defect that such rigorous pre-sale testing
would reveal because the defect is a manufacturing and/or design defect in which the
HECU is defective and present in the vehicles before they are ever driven. Particularly,
given the Defendants’ durability testing in varying climates and humidity, the HECU’s
susceptibility to moisture or other leaks would be evident after testing is complete.
Consumers have also reported the Electrical Fire Defect early in the life of the car— so it
is likely the Electrical Fire Defect could manifest well before the 30,000- or 1 00,000-mile
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distances to which the Defendants claim to test their vehicles.

Vii. Despite knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect, the Defendants marketed the
Affected Class Vehicles as safe, durable, and reliable

The Defendants have long touted the safety, durability, and performance of their vehicles

because they know safety is material to consumers.

The Defendants marketed the Affected Class Vehicles’ safety, durability, performance, and
warranties throughout the class period. This is reflected by the sales brochures the
Defendants issued for various Affected Class Vehicles, which point to vehicle safety and
the purported performance of their vehicles.

The Defendants marketed their vehicles to proposed Class Members as safe, reliable, and
functional. Below are examples pulled from the Defendants’ vehicle brochures:

2010 HYUNDAI ELANTRA
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2014 K1A SORENTO
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2014 KIA SPORTAGE

The Defendants' brochures for other Affected Class Vehicles make similar claims about

safety, durability, reliability, performance, and the technological prowess of their vehicles.

The Defendants developed, created, and controlled all the advertising, marketing, and
point-of-sale materials for their respective Affected Class Vehicles. As such, the Defendants
could and should have disclosed the Electrical Fire Defect to proposed Class Members in

such materials.

viii. Defendants’ warranties for the Affected Class Vehicles

The Defendants issue a New Vehicle Limited Warranty with each Affected Class Vehicle.
Under this warranty, the Defendants agreed to repair defects within the earlier of five years
or 60,000 miles.

The Defendants widely advertise that they offer the best warranty and an industry-leading
warranty program, respectively. The Defendants provided these warranties, or substantially

similar warranties, for all Affected Class Vehicles at all relevant times.
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The Defendants evaded their warranty obligations by failing to disclose the Electrical Fire

Defect to consumers and by refusing to repair or.cover damages caused by the fire defect.

e o

In many instances, consumers must pay for diagnosis of the Electrical Fire Defect—even
though the Affected Class Vehicle was manufactured with the Electrical Fire Defect—and
pay out of pocket for the repair or replacement costs arising from the Electrical Fire Defect.

In other instances, consumers that present their Affected Class Vehicles to the Defendants
for warranty repairs are denied and informed nothing is wrong with their vehicle. As a result,
after expiration of the warranty period, these proposed Class Members must pay for costly
repairs related to the Electrical Fire Defect.

Since recalling some of the Affected Class Vehicles, many consumers complained that
recall or remedy parts were unavailable through Hyundai and Kia dealerships, delaying help

for aggrieved vehicle owners and/or lessees.

ix. Agency relationship between Defendants and their authorized dealerships as
to the Affected Class Vehicles

The Defendants, HYUNDAI and KIA, as the vehicle manufacturers, impliedly or expressly
acknowledged that Hyundai and Kia authorized dealerships are their sales agents, the
dealers have accepted that undertaking, they have the ability to control authorized Hyundai
and Kia dealers, and they act as the principal in that relationship, as is shown by the
following:

(a) The Defendants can terminate the relationship with their dealers at will:

(b) The relationships are indefinite;

(c) The Defendants are in the business of selling vehicles as are their dealers:

(d) The Defendants provide tools and resources for Hyundai and Kia dealers to sell

vehicles;
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The Defendants supervise their dealers regularly;

Without the'Defe?‘id?ntsfthe relevant Hyundai and Kia dealers would not exist;

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

‘The Defendants as the principal require the following of their dealers:

Reporting of sales:

Computer network connection with the Defendants;
Training of dealers’ sales and technical personnel:
Use of the Defendants supplied computer software;
Participation in the Defendants training programs;

Establishment and maintenance of service departments in Hyundai and Kia
dealerships;

Certification of Defendants pre-owned vehicles:

Reporting to the Defendants with respect to the car delivery, including
reporting Plaintiffs’ names, éddresses, preferred titles, primary and business
phone numbers, e-mail addresses, vehicle VIN numbers, delivery date, type
of sale, lease/finance terms, factory incentive coding, if applicable, vehicles’
odometer readings, extended service contract sale designations, if any, and

names of delivering dealership employees; and

Displaying the Defendants’ logos on signs, literature, products, and
brochures within FCA dealerships.

Dealerships bind the Defendants with respect to:
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() ‘Warranty repairs on the vehicles the dealers sell; and
-uoAiiy. Issuing service contracts administered by the Defendants. -

~.The Defendants further exercise control over their dealers with respect to:

(i) Financial incentives given to Hyundai and Kia dealer employees;

(i) Locations of dealers;

(iii) Testing and certification of dealership personnel to ensure compliance with
the Defendants policies and procedures; and

(iv) Customer satisfaction surveys, pursuant to which the Defendants allocate
the number of their cars to each dealer, thereby directly controlling

dealership profits.

Hyundai and Kia dealers sell Defendants vehicles on the Defendants behalf,
pursuant to a “floor plan,” and the Defendants dos not receive payment for their

cars until the dealerships sell them.

Dealerships bear the Defendant brand names, use its logos in advertising and on
warranty repair orders, post Hyundai and Kia brand signs for the public to see, and
enjoy a franchise to sell the Defendants products, including the Affected Class
Vehicles.

The Defendants require Hyundai and Kia dealers to follow the rules and policies of
the Defendants in conducting all aspects of dealer business, including the delivery
of the Defendants warranties described above, and the servicing of defective
vehicles such as the Affected Class Vehicles.

The Defendants require their dealers to post the Defendants brand names, logos,
and signs at dealer locations, including dealer service departments, and to identify
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themselves and to the public as authorized Hyundai and Kia dealers and servicing

outlets for the Defendants vehicles.

The Defendants require their dealers to use service and repair forms containing its

brand names and logos.

The Defendants require Hyundai and Kia dealers to perform the Defendants
warranty diagnoses and repairs, and to do the diagnoses and repairs according to

the procedures and policies set forth in writing by the Defendants.

The Defendants require Hyundai and Kia dealers to use parts and tools either
provided by the Defendants or approved by Defendants and to inform the
Defendants when dealers discover that unauthorized parts have been installed on
one of the Defendants vehicles.

The Defendants require dealers’ service and repair employees to be trained by the

Defendants in the methods of repair of Hyundai and Kia-brand vehicles.

The Defendants audits Hyundai and Kia dealerships’ sales and service departments
and directly contact the customers of said dealers to determine their level of
satisfaction with the sale and repair services provided by the dealers; dealers are
then granted financial incentives or reprimanded depending on the level of

satisfaction.

The Defendants require their dealers to provide it with monthly statements and
records pertaining, in part, to dealers’ sales and servicing of the Defendants

vehicles.
The Defendants provides technical service bulletins and messages to their dealers
detailing chronic defects present in product lines, and repair procedures to be

followed for chronic defects.

The Defendants provide their dealers with specially trained service and repair
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consultants with whom dealers are required.by.the Defendants to consult when
dealers are unabie to correct a vehicle defect ori their own.

The Defendants require Hyundai and Kia-brand vehicle owners to go to authorized
Hyundai and Kia dealers to obtain servicing under the-Defendants warranties.

Hyundai and Kia dealers are required to notify the' Defendants whenever a car is
sold or put into warranty service.

Part 2: RELIEF SOUGHT

1. The Plaintiff, on his own behalf and on behalf of the proposed Class Members, claims
against the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA, HMMA, KCI, KMC, KMA and KMMA, jointly
and severally, as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

an order certifying this action as a class proceeding and appointing the Plaintiff as
the named representative;

a declaration that the Affected Class Vehicles are equipped with a defective
Hydraulic Electronic Control Unit in the Anti-Lock Brake System;

a declaration that the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA, HMMA, KClI, KMC, KMA
and/or KMMA, were negligent in the design and/or manufacturing of the Affected
Class Vehicles with a defective Hydraulic Electronic Control Unit in the Anti-Lock
Brake System causing the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members to suffer damages;

a declaration that the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA, HMMA, KCI, KMC, KMA
and/or KMMA:

(i) breached their duty of care to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members;

(ii) breached express warranties as to the Affected Class Vehicles and are
consequently liable to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members for
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damages;

breached. implied warranties or conditions of merchantability as to the
Affected Class: Vehicles and are consequently liable to the Plaintiff and
proposed Class Members for damages pursuant to sections 18(a),(b) and
56 of the Sale of Goods Act, R.S.B.C. 1996 (“SGA”), 410; sections 16(2),
(4) and 52 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSA 2000, c. S-2; sections 16(1), (2)
and 52 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSS 1978, c. §-1; sections 16(a), (b) and
54 of The Sale of Goods Act, CCSM 2000, c. $10; sections 15(1), (2) and
51 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSO 1990, c. S.1; sections 16(a),(c) and 54 of
the Sale of Goods Act, RSNL 1990, c. S-6 ; sections 17(a),(b) and 54 of the
Sale of Goods Act, RSNS 1989, c. 408: sections 20(a),(b) and 67 of the Sale
of Goods Act, RSNB 2016, c. 110: sections 16(a), (b) and 53 of the Sale of
Goods Act, RSPEI 1988, ¢. S-1; sections 15(a), (b) and 60 of the Sale of
Goods Act, RSY 2002, c. 198; sections 18(a),(b) and 60 of the Sale of
Goods Act, RSNWT 1988, c. S-2; and sections 1 8(a),(b) and 60 of the Sale
of Goods Act, RSNWT (Nu) 1988, ¢. S-2; and

engaged in unfair practices contrary to sections 4 and 5 of the Business
Practices and Consumer Protection Act, S.B.C. 2004 (“BPCPA"); Sections
5 and 6 of the Consumer Protection Act, RSA 2000, c. C-26.3; Sections 6
and 7 of The Consumer Protection and Business Practices Act, SS, 2014,
¢ C-30.2; Sections 2 and 3 of The Business Practices Act, CCSM ¢ B120;
Sections 14(1) and (2) of the Consumer Protection Act, 2002, SO 2002, ¢
30, Sch A and Section 4 (1) of the Consumer Product Warranty and Liability
Act, SNB 1978, ¢ C-18.1, and are consequently liable to the Plaintiff and
proposed Class Members for damages;

a declaration that it is not in the interests of justice to require that notice be given,

where applicable, under the BPCPA; Consumer Protection Act, RSA 2000, c. C-

26.3; The Consumer Protection and Business Practices Act, SS, 2014, ¢ C-30.2; The
Business Practices Act, CCSM ¢ B1 20; Consumer Protection Act, 2002, SO 2002,
¢ 30, Sch A; Consumer Product Warranty and Liability Act, and SNB 1 978,cC-18.1,
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and waiving any such applicable notice provisions;

an Order for the statutory remedies available under the BPCPA; Consumer

‘Protection-Act, RSA 2000, c. C-26.3,The Consumer Protection and Business

Practices: Act, SS, 2014, ¢ C-30.2;The Business Practices Act, CCSM ¢ B120;
Consumer Protection Act, 2002, S0 2002, ¢ 30, Sch A; Consumer Product Warranty
and Liability Act, SNB 1978, ¢ C-18.1 Jincluding damages, cancellation and/or
rescission of the purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles;

an order directing the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA, HMMA, KCI, KMC, KMA
and/or KMMA to advertise any adverse findings against them pursuant to section
172(3)(c) of the BPCPA; Section 19 of the Consumer Protection Act, RSA 2000, c.
C-26.3;Section 93(1)(f) of The Consumer Protection and Business Practices Act,
SS, 2014, ¢ C-30.2; Section 23(2)(f) of The Business Practices Act, CCSM ¢ B120;
Section 18(11) of the Consumer Protection Act, 2002, SO 2002, ¢ 30, Sch A and
Section 15 of the Consumer Product Warranty and Liability Act, SNB 1978, ¢ C-
18.1;

a declaration that the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA, HMMA, KCI, KMC, KMA
and/or KMMA, breached sections 36 and/or 52 of the Competition Act, R.S.C 1985,
c.C-34and are consequently liable to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members for

damages;

an order enjoining the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA, HMMA, KCI, KMC, KMA
and/or KMMA, from continuing the unlawful and unfair business practices as alleged

herein;

injunctive and/or declaratory relief requiring the Defendants, HACC, HMC, HMA,
HMMA, KCI, KMC, KMA and/or KMMA, to recall, repair and/or replace the Hydraulic
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Electronic Control Unit in the Anti-Lock Brake System equipped in the Affected. . -

R TR Class Vehicles and/or buy back all Affected Class Vehicles and to-fully reimburse-.:-

TAANL T and make -whole all proposed Class Members for all costs- and economic losses—

associated therewith;

“+€hK)- an order pursuant to section 29 of the Class Proceeding Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, ¢.50 " -
(“CPA”) directing an aggregate assessment of damages; '

(1) costs of notice and administering the plan of distribution of the recovery in this action
plus applicable taxes pursuant to section 24 of the CPA;

(m-m) damages, including actual, compensatory, incidental, statutory and consequential
damages;

ter(n) special damages;
tpr{0) punitive damages;
teHp) costs of investigation pursuant to section 36 of the Competition Act;

r-(q) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest pursuant to the Court Order Interest Act,
R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 79; and

(sHr) such further and other relief as to this Honourable Court may seem just.

Part 3: LEGAL BASIS

Jurisdiction

1. There is a real and substantial connection between British Columbia and the facts alleged
in this proceeding. The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members plead and rely upon the Court

Jurisdiction and Proceedings Transfer Act, R.S.B.C. 2003, c.28 (the “CJPTA")in respect of
the Defendants. Without limiting the foregoing, a real and substantial connection between
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-British Columbia and the facts alleged in this proceeding exists pursuant to sections 10
(eX(i). (e)ii)(AXB), (P, (g), (h) and (i) of the CJPTA bécause:this proceeding:

e)i) concerns contractual obligations to a substantiai -extent, were to be
performed in British Columbia: -

(e)iii(A)B) the contract is for the purchase of property, services orboth, for use other
than in the course of the purchaser’s trade or profession, and resulted from
a solicitation of business in British Columbia by or on behalf of the seller:

(H concerns restitutionary obligations that, to a substantial extent, arose in
British Columbia;

(9) concerns a tort committed in British Columbia;
(h) concems a business carried on in British Columbia; and
(i) is @ claim for an injunction ordering a party to do or refrain from doing

anything in British Columbia.

Causes of Action

Negligence

2. The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members hereby incorporate by reference the allegations
contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

3. Atall material times to the cause of action herein, the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members
were using the Affected Class Vehicles for the purposes and manner for which they were
intended. The Defendants as vehicle manufacturers, at all material times, owed a duty of
care to the Plaintiff and proposed Class to provide a product that did not have a design
and/or manufacturing defect. The Affected Class Vehicles pose a serious risk of injury,
death and/or property damage to proposed Class Members on account of the Electrical Fire
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Defect.

The Defendants as the “designer, enginger,. manufacturer, promoter, marketer and
distributor of the Affected Class Vehicles, inténded for use by ordinary consumers, owed
a duty of care to the Plaintiff and proposed Ciass Members to ensure that the Affected
Class Vehicles were reasonably safe for use. -

The Defendants owed a duty of care to the proposed Class. This duty of care was breached
by the Defendants failure to ensure that moisture did not enter, or accumulate within, the
HECU so as to cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s
engine compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off.

Atall material times, the Defendants owed a duty of care to the Plaintiff and proposed Class
Members and breached that standard of care expected in the circumstances. They knew
of the Electrical Fire Defect, yet they continued to equip the Affected Class Vehicles with
a defective HECU in the ABS.

The Defendants owed the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members a duty to carefully monitor
the safety and post-market performance of the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles. The
Defendants had a duty to warn or promptly warn the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members
of the dangers associated with the use of the Affected Class Vehicles. They failed to
promptly, or at all, recall the Affected Class Vehicles from the Canadian market upon
discovering the Electrical Fire Defect, which could cause serious personal injury, death
and/or property damage, in conditions of ordinary use and which otherwise reduced the
value of the Affected Class Vehicles and resulted in costs associated with the loss of use
of the Affected Class Vehicles.

The circumstances of the Defendants being in the business of designing, manufacturing and
placing the Affected Class Vehicles into the Canadian stream of commerce are such that
the Defendants are in a position of legal proximity to the Plaintiff and proposed Class
Members, and therefore are underan obligation to be fully aware of safety when designing,
manufacturing, assembling and selling a product such as the Affected Class Vehicles.
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It was reasonably foreseeable that a failure by the Defendants to design and/or
manufacturer a HECU thatwas properly sealed so as to prevent moisture from entering in,
or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption
in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and
turned off, and take corrective measures when required, would cause harm to the Plaintiff

and proposed Class Members.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members had no knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect
in the Affected Class Vehicles and had no reason to suspect the Electrical Fire Defect.

The Defendants knew or ought to have known that the Affected Class Vehicles contained
a defective HECU, which, in the absence of reasonable care in the design, manufacture
and/or assembly of the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles,
presented a serious safety hazard to drivers and passengers of the Affected Class Vehicles
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or
even when the vehicle is parked and turned off caused by a short circuit.

As such, the Defendants through their employees, officers, directors, and agents, failed to
meet the reasonable standard of care or conduct expected in the circumstances in that:

(a) they knew, or ought to have known, about the Electrical F ire Defect in the Affected
Class Vehicles and should have timely warned the Plaintiff and proposed Class

Members;

(b) they designed, developed, manufactured, tested, assembled, marketed, advertised,
distributed, supplied and/or sold vehicles equipped with a defective HECU;

(c) they failed to timely warn the Plaintiff, proposed Class Members and/or consumers
about the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles, which presented a

serious safety hazard to drivers and passengers;

(d) they failed to change the design, manufacture and/or assembly of the defective
HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles in a reasonable and
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timely manner;

-(e) ihey failed to properly inspect and test the HECU in the ABS equipped in ‘the

:‘Affected Class Vehicles:.

() they knew, or ought to have known, about the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected
Ciass Vehicles but failed to disclose it;

(9) they failed to timely issue and implement safety, repair and/or replacement recalls
of the Affected Class Vehicles with the defective HECU in the ABS equipped in the
Affected Class Vehicles:

(h) the Electrical Fire Defect presented a serious safety hazard to drivers and
passengers of the Affected Class Vehicles resulting from spontaneous fire eruption
in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is
parked and turned off caused by a short circuit;

(i) notwithstanding that they foresaw personal injury and the loss of property of the
drivers and passengers in the Affected Class Vehicles, they failed or failed to
promptly eliminate or correct the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles; and

() failed to exercise reasonable care and judgment in matters of design, manufacture,
materials, workmanship and/or quality of product which would reasonably be
expected of it as an automobile manufacturer.

As a result of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles by reason of the
Defendants negligence and their failure to disclose and/or adequately warn of the Electrical
Fire Defect, the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members have suffered damages and will

‘continue to suffer damages. The value of each of the Affected Class Vehicles is reduced.

The Plaintiff and each proposed Class Member must expend the time to have his/her
vehicle repaired and/or recalied and be without their vehicle. The Defendants should
compensate the Plaintiff and each proposed Class Member for their incurred out-of-pocket
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expenses for, inter alia, alternative transportation and vehicle payments as.a result of the
Electrical Fire Defect. . . Celte

~ . Breach of Express Warranty

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members hereby incorporate by reference the allegations
contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

As an express warrantor and manufacturer and merchant, the Defendants had certain
obligations to conform the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles to

their express warranties.

The Defendants marketed, distributed and/or sold the Affected Class Vehicles in Canada,
including the Province of British Columbia, as safe and reliable vehicles through
independent retail dealers and/or authorized dealerships. Such representations formed the
basis of the bargain in the Plaintiff's and proposed Class Members’ decisions to purchase
and/or lease the Affected Class Vehicles.

When the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members purchased and/or leased their vehicles
with the HECU (either as new vehicles or as used vehicles with remaining warranty
coverage), the Defendants expressly warranted under their warranties that they would
correct any vehicle defect found within the warranty period, and cover all towing, parts, and
labor needed to correct the defect.

The warranties of the Defendants formed a basis of the bargain that was reached when the
Plaintiff and proposed Class Members purchased and/or leased the Affected Class
Vehicles.

The Electrical Fire Defect at issue in this litigation was present at the time vehicles equipped
with the defective HECU were sold and leased to Plaintiff and proposed Class Members.

The Defendants breached their express warranties (and continue to breach these express
warranties) because they did not and have not corrected the Electrical Fire Defect in the
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Affected Class Vehicles with the defective HECU.

Pursuant to their express warranties; the. Defendants were ‘obligated to correct any defect -
in the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles owned or leased by the
Plaintiff and proposed Class Members.

Although the Defendants were obligated to correct the defective HECU, none of the
purported, attempted fixes to the Electrical Fire Defect are adequate under the terms of the
warranty, as they did not cure the Electrical Fire Defect.

The Defendants and their agent dealers have failed and refused to conform the defective

HECU to their express warranties. The Defendants conduct, as averred to herein, has

voided any attempt on their part to disclaim liability for their actions.

In particular, the Defendants breached their express warranties by:

(a) knowingly providing the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members with the Affected
Class Vehicles containing defects in material that were never disclosed to the

Plaintiff and proposed Class Members;

(b) failing to repair or replace the Affected Class Vehicles equipped with the defective
HECU at no cost within the warranty period;

(c) ignoring, delaying responses to and denying warranty claims in bad faith: and

(d) supplying products and materials that failed to conform to their representations.
The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members have performed each and every duty required
of them under the terms of the warranties, except as may have been excused or prevented
by the conduct of the Defendants or by operation of law in light of the Defendants, conduct

as described herein.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members have given the Defendants a reasonable
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opportunity to cure their breach of express warranties or, alternatively, were not required
to do sc because such an opportunity weuld be unnecessary and futile given that the
repairs and/or replacements offered by the Defendants can neither cure the Electrical Fire
Defectin the Affected Class Vehicles nor resolve the incidental and consequential damages

flowing therefrom.

The Defendants received timely notice regarding the Electrical Fire Defect from the Plaintiff
and proposed Class Members when they brought their vehicles to their dealerships. The
Defendants also received notice through complaints made by other consumers, NHTSA and
to Transport Canada. Notwithstanding such notice, the Defendants have failed and refused

to offer an effective remedy.

In their capacity as a supplier and/or warrantor, and by the conduct described herein, any
attempt by the Defendants to limit their express warranties in a manner that would enforce
the 5 year/100,000 kilometers limit would be unconscionable. The Defendants’ warranties
were adhesive, and did not permit negotiation, or the inclusion of design and/or
manufacturing defects. The Defendants possessed superior knowledge of the defects in the
HECU prior to offering the Affected Class Vehicles for sale. The Defendants concealed and
did not disclose the Electrical Fire Defect, and the Defendants, did not remedy the defect
prior to sale (or afterward). Any effort to otherwise limit liability for the design and/or
manufacturing defect is null and void.

Further, because the Defendants have been unable to remedy the Electrical Fire Defect,
the limitation on remedies included in the warranty fails its essential purpose and is null and
void.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members have suffered damages caused by the
Defendants’ breach of their express warranties and are entitled to recover damages,
including but not limited to diminution of value.
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Breach of the Implied Warranty or Condition of Merchantability pursuant to the SGA and
Parallel Provinciai Saie of Goods Legislation

31.

32.

33.

34.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members hereby incorporate by reference the allegations
contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

The Defendants.are a. “seller” with respect to motor vehicles within the meaning of the
SGA, Sale of Goods Act, RSA 2000, c. S-2; Sale of Goods Act, RSS 1978, ¢. S-1: The Sale
of Goods Act, CCSM 2000, c. S10; Sale of Goods Act, RSO 1990, c. S.1; Sale of Goods
Act, RSNL 1990, c. $-6 ; Sale of Goods Act, RSNS 1989, c. 408; Sale of Goods Act, RSNB
2016, c. 110; Sale of Goods Act, RSPEI 1988, c. S-1; Sale of Goods Act, RSY 2002, c.
198, Sale of Goods Act, RSNWT 1988, c. S-2: and Sale of Goods Act, RSNWT (Nu) 1988,
c. §-2, pursuant to their agency relationship with their authorized dealers, distributors,

resellers, retailers and/or intermediaries.

The Defendants are, and were, at all relevant times a seller with respect to Affected Class
Vehicles equipped with the defective HECU. The Defendants directly sold and marketed
vehicles equipped with the defective HECU to customers through authorized dealers, like
those from whom Plaintiff and proposed Class Members bought or leased their vehicles, for
the intended purpose of consumers purchasing the vehicles. The Defendants knew that the
Affected Class Vehicles equipped with the defective HECU would and did pass unchanged
from the authorized dealers to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, with no
modification to the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles.

A warranty that the Affected Class Vehicles were in merchantable condition was implied by
law pursuant to_sections 18(a) and/or (b) of the SGA, sections 16(2) and/or (4) of the Sale
of Goods Act, RSA 2000, c. S-2; sections 16(1) and (2) of the Sale of Goods Act, RSS
1978, c. S-1; sections 16(a) and/or (b) of The Sale of Goods Act, CCSM 2000, c. S10;
sections 15(1) and/or (2) of the Sale of Goods Act, RSO 1990, c. S.1; sections 16(a) and/or.
(c) of the Sale of Goods Act, RSNL 1990, c. S-6 ; sections 17(a) and/or (b) of the Sale of
Goods Act, RSNS 1989, c. 408; sections 20(a) and/or (b) of the Sale of Goods Act, RSNB
2016, c. 110; sections 16(a) and/or (b) of the Sale of Goods Act, RSPEI 1988, ¢. S-1;
sections 15(a) and/or (b) of the Sale of Goods Act, RSY 2002, c. 198; sections 18(a) and/or
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- {b)-of the Sale of Goods Act, RSNWT 1988, c. S-2; and sections 18(a) and (b) of the Sale:. -
~0k-Goods Act, RSNWT (Nu) 1988, c. S-2,

"The Defendants marketed, distributed and/or sold the Affected Class Vehicles in Canada, .-
rincluding the Province of British Columbia, as safe and reliable vehicles -through
“independent retail dealers and/or authorized dealerships. Such representations formed the

basis of the bargain in the Plaintiff's and proposed Class Members’ decisions to purchase
and/or lease the Affected Class Vehicles.

Vehicles equipped with the HECU were defective at the time they left the possession of the
Defendants. The Defendants knew of this defect at the time these transactions occurred.
Thus, vehicles equipped with the defective HECU, when sold and at all times thereatfter,
were not in merchantable condition or quality and were not fit for their ordinary intended

purpose.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members purchased and/or leased the Affected Class
Vehicles from the Defendants through their subsidiaries, authorized agents for retail sales,
through private sellers or were otherwise expected to be the eventual purchasers and/or
lessees of the Affected Class Vehicles when bought and/or leased from a third party. Atall
relevant times, the Defendants were the manufacturers, distributors, warrantors and/or
sellers of the Affected Class Vehicles. As such, there existed privity and/or vertical privity
of contract between the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members and the Defendants, as to
their Affected Class Vehicles. Alternatively, privity of contract need not be established nor
is it required because the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members are intended third-party
beneficiaries of contracts between the Defendants and their resellers, authorized dealers
and/or distributors and, specifically, of the Defendants’ implied warranties.

The Defendants’ resellers, authorized dealers and/or distributors are intermediaries
between the Defendants and consumers. These intermediaries sell the Affected Class
Vehicles to consumers and are not, themselves, consumers of the Affected Class Vehicles
and, therefore, have no rights against the Defendants with respect to the Plaintiffs and
proposed Class Members’ acquisition of the Affected Class Vehicles. The Defendants
warranties were designed to influence consumers who purchased and/or leased the
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Affected Class Vehicles.
The Defendants knew or had reason to know of the specific'use for which.the Affected
Class Vehicles were purchased or leased.

As a result of the Electrical Fire Defect, the Affected Class Vehicles were not in
merchantable condition when sold and are not fit for the ordinary purpose of providing safe
and reliable transportation.

The Defendants knew about the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles,
allowing them to cure their breach of warranty if they chose.

At all times that the Defendants warranted and sold their Affected Class Vehicles, they
knew or ought to have known that their warranties were false and yet they did not disclose
the truth or stop manufacturing or selling their Affected Class Vehicles and, instead,
continued to issue false warranties and continued to insist the products were safe. The
Affected Class Vehicles were defective when the Defendants delivered them to their
resellers, authorized dealers and/or distributors which sold the Affected Class Vehicles and
the Affected Class Vehicles were, therefore, still defective when they reached Plaintiff and
proposed Class Members.

The Defendants attempts to disclaim or limit the implied warranty of merchantability vis-a-vis
the Plaintiff, proposed Class Members and/or consumers is unconscionable and
unenforceable. Specifically, the Defendants warranty limitation is unenforceable because
they -knowingly sold and/or leased a defective product without informing the Plaintiff,
proposed Class Members and/or consumers about the Electrical F ire Defect in the Affected
Class Vehicles. The time limits contained in the Defendants warranty periods were also
unconscionable and inadequate to protect the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members.
Among other things, the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members had no meaningful choice
in determining these time limitations, the terms of which unreasonably favored the
Defendants. A gross disparity in bargaining power existed between the Defendants and the
Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, and the Defendants knew that the Affected Class
Vehicles were equipped with a defective HECU that was improperly or inadequately sealed
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to prevent moisture from entering in; or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’'s:engine compartment while driving or
even when the vehicle is parked and turned off; ail of which posed a serious risk of harm,

injury and/or property damage: to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members have complied with all obligations under the
warranty or otherwise have been excused from performance of said obligations as a resuit
of the Defendants conduct alleged herein. Affording the Defendants a reasonable
opportunity to cure their breach of written warranties, therefore, would be unnecessary and

futile.

As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants breach of implied warranties or
conditions of merchantability, the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members have suffered loss,
diminution and/or damage as a result of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles pursuant to sections 56 of the SGA, section 52 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSA
2000, c. S-2; section 52 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSS 1978, c. S-1; section 54 of The Sale
of Goods Act, CCSM 2000, c. S10; section 51 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSO 1990, ¢. S.1;
section 54 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSNL 1990, c. S-6 ; section 54 of the Sale of Goods
Act, RSNS 1989, c. 408; section 67 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSNB 2016, c. 110;section
53 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSPEI 1988, c. S-1;section 60 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSY
2002, c. 198, section 60 of the Sale of Goods Act, RSNWT 1988, c. S-2; and section 60 of
the Sale of Goods Act, RSNWT (Nu) 1988, c. S-2,

Breach of Provincial Consumer Protection Legislation

BPCPA

46.

47.

48.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members in British Columbia hereby incorporate by
reference the allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

The Defendants are in British Columbia for the purposes of the BPCPA.

The Affected Class Vehicles are consumer “goods” within the meaning of section 1(1) of the
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BPCPA.

The Plaintiff and:proposed Class Members in British Columbia who purchased and/or.
leased the Affected Class.Vehidles primarily for personal, family or household purposes,
and not for resale or for the purposes of carrying on business, are “consumers” within.the
meaning of section 1(1) of the BPCPA. -

The purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles by the Plaintiff and proposed
Class Members in British Columbia for personal, family or household purposes, and not for
resale or for carrying on business constitutes a “consumer transaction” within the meaning
of section 1(1) of the BPCPA.

The Defendants are a “supplier” within the meaning of section 1(1) of the BPCPA as they
carried on business in British Columbia and who in the course of business participated in
a consumer transaction by: (i) supplying goods to a consumer, or (ii) soliciting, offering,
advertising or promoting with respect to a consumer transaction, whether or not privity of
contract exists between that person and the consumer, and includes an assignee of, any
rights or obligations of the supplier under the BPCPA. The Defendants are the vehicle
manufacturers of the Affected Class Vehicles and distribute, market and/or supply such
vehicles to consumers including proposed Class Members in British Columbia. At all
relevant times, the Defendants were a supplier and/or seller of the Affected Class Vehicles
as their resellers, authorized dealers and/or distributors were acting as the agents of the
Defendants.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles, the Defendants engaged in unfair and deceptive trade practices prohibited by
sections 4 and 5 of the BPCPA. The Defendants knew that the Affected Class Vehicles
were equipped with a defective HECU that was improperly or inadequately sealed to
prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or
even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, all of which posed a serious risk of harm,
injury and/or property damage to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, but yet failed
to adequately warn consumers.
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As aileged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and omissions
concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the ABS equipped in the Affected

= Class Vehicies.:

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, the Plaintiff and proposed Class:

Members weré. deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the

Electrical Fire Defect and associated safety risk.

In particular, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of unfair or deceptive acts or practices
in failing to disclose to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members that the HECU was
improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating
within, so as to cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s
engine compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, as

follows:

(a) failing to disclose that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were not of
a particular standard, quality, or grade;

(b) failing to disclose before, during and/or after the time of purchase, lease and/or
repair, any and all known material defects or material nonconformity of the Affected
Class Vehicles, including the Electrical Fire Defect;

(c) failing to disclose at the time of purchase and/or lease that the Affected Class
Vehicles, including the HECU, were not in good working order, defective, not fit for
their intended, and ordinary purpose, and created a serious and imminent risk of
danger or harm to occupants of the Affected Class Vehicles;

(d) failing to give adequate warnings and/or notices regarding the use, defects, and
problems with the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles' to
consumers who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles, even though
the Defendants possessed exclusive knowledge of the inherent defect in the HECU
before and at the time of purchase and/or lease;
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(e) failing to disclose, either through warnings and/or recall notices, and/or actively
concealing, the fact that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles:was defecive,
even though the Defendants knew about the Electrical Fire Defect; and - -

~ - (f) representing that the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles would be

covered under its warranty program.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in
British Columbia were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive
knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect such that the HECU was improperly or inadequately
sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short
circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while
driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect, the Defendants
engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by sections 4 and 5 of the
BPCPA.

Further, as alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and/or
omissions concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the Affected Class
Vehicles, in particular as to the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles

by:

(a) publishing owners' manuals that made materially misleading omissions concerning
vehicle safety and purported performance which uniformly omitted any warning to
consumers that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent
moisture, or other leaks, from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a
short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine
compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is. parked and turned off;

(b) advertisements which uniformly omitted any information about the-Electrical Fire
Defect and which misled consumers into believing that the HECU would function

properly; and
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(c) emphasizing and extolling in brochures the safety, durability and performance of the
Affected Class Vehicles..

The Defendants conduct as alleged herein was, and is, in violation of sections 4 and 5.of
the BPCPA, in particular, by:

(a) representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, was defect-free
and did not pose a safety hazard, which it did not;

(b) representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were of a
particular standard, quality or grade, when they were not;

(c) advertising the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, with intent not to sell
them as advertised; and

(d) representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, have been
supplied in accordance with a previous representation as to benefits, performance
and/or safety, when they have not.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in
British Columbia were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive
knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect and/or their representations made as to the benefits,
performance and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles in their sales brochure materials,

manuals, press releases and/or websites.

The Defendants intentionally and knowingly misrepresented and omitted material facts
regarding their Affected Class Vehicles, specifically regarding the Electrical Fire Defect, with
an intent to mislead the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, the Plaintiff and proposed Class
Members were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the
Electrical Fire Defect and associated safety risk.
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The Plaintiff and propesed Class Members had no way of knowing of the Defendants
representations were false, misleading-aiid incomplete or knowing the true nature of the
Electrical Fire Defect in the. Affected Class Vehicles. As alleged herein, the Defendants
engaged in a pattern of deception in the face of a known fire defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles. The Plaintiff and proposed Class: Members did not, and could not, unravel the

Defendants deception on their own.

The Defendants knew, or ought to have known, that their conduct violated sections 4 and
5 of the BPCPA.

The Defendants owed the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members a duty to disclose the truth
about the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles as it created a serious safety

hazard and the Defendants:

(a) possessed exclusive knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class

Vehicles;

(b) intentionally concealed the foregoing from the Plaintiff and proposed Class
Members; and/or

(c) failed to warn consumers or to publicly admit that the Affected Class Vehicles had

a fire defect.

The Defendants had a duty to disclose that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was
fundamentally flawed as described herein because it created a serious safety hazard and
the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members relied on the Defendants material
misrepresentations and omissions regarding the Affected Class Vehicles and the Electrical
Fire Defect.

The Defendants conduct proximately caused injuries to the Plaintiff and proposed Class
Members that purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles and suffered harm as

alleged herein.
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The Plaintiff and"proposed Class Members were injured and suffered ascertainable loss,

injury-in-fact and/or acitiat damage as a proximate result of the Defendants conduct in that

"Plaintiff and proposed Ciass Members incurred costs related to the Electrical Fire Defect -

including repair,-service and/or replacement costs, rental car costs and overpaid for their
Affected Class- Vehicles that have suffered a diminution in value.

The Defendants violations cause continuing injuries to the Plaintiff and proposed Class
Members. The Defendants unlawful acts and practices complained of herein affect the

public interest.

The Defendants knew of the defective HECU and that the Affected Class Vehicles were
materially compromised by the Electrical Fire Defect.

The facts concealed and omitted by the Defendants from the Plaintiff and proposed Class
Members are material in that a reasonable consumer would have considered them to be
important in deciding whether to purchase an Affected Class Vehicle or pay a lower price.
Had the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members known about the defective nature of the
HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles, they would not have purchased and/or leased the
Affected Class Vehicles or would not have paid the prices they paid.

The Plaintiff's and proposed Class Members’ injuries were directly or proximately caused
by the Defendants unlawful and deceptive business practices.

As aresult of the Defendants conduct as alleged herein, proposed Class Members in British
Columbia are entitled to a declaration under section 172(1)(a) of the BPCPA that an act or
practice engaged in by the Defendants in respect to the purchase and/or lease of the
Affected Class Vehicles contravenes the BPCPA, an injunction under section 172(1)(b) of
the BPCPA to restrain such conduct and/or damages under section 171 of the BPCPA.

Proposed Class Members in British Columbia are entitled, to the extent necessary, a waiver
of any notice requirements under section 173(1) the BPCPA, as a result of the Defendants
failure to disclose and/or actively conceal the Electrical Fire Defect from proposed Class
Members in British Columbia and their misrepresentations as to the benefits, performance
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« and/or-safety of the Affected Class Vehicles.

S it e

Consumer Protection Act, RSA 2000, c. C-26.3 (“Alberta CPA”)

AN
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‘Proposed Class Members in Alberta hereby incorporate by reference: the allegations .- o5

contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

The Defendants are in Alberta for the purposes of the Alberta CPA.

The Affected Class Vehicles are consumer “goods” within the meaning of section 1(1)(e)i)
of the Alberta CPA.

Proposed Class Members in Alberta who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class
Vehicles primarily for personal, family or household purposes, and not for resale or for the
purposes of carrying on business, are “consumers” within the meaning of section 1(1)(b)(i)
of the Alberta CPA.

The purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles by proposed Class Members in
Alberta for personal, family or household purposes, and not for resale or for carrying on
business constitutes a “consumer transaction” within the meaning of section 1(1)(c)(i) of the
Alberta CPA.

The Defendants are a “supplier” within the meaning of section 1(1)(1)(i),(ii) and/or (iii) of the
Alberta CPA as they carried on business in Alberta and who in the course of business
participated in a consumer transaction by: (i) supplying goods to a consumer, or (ii)
soliciting, offering, advertising or promoting with respectto a consumer transaction, whether
or not privity of contract exists between that person and the consumer, and includes an
assignee of, any rights or obligations of the supplier under the Alberta CPA. The Defendants
are the vehicle manufacturers of the Affected Class Vehicles and distribute, market and/or
supply such vehicles to consumers including proposed Class Members in Alberta. At all
relevant times, the Defendants were a supplier and/or seller of the Affected Class Vehicles
as their resellers, authorized dealers and/or distributors were acting as the agents of the
Defendants
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By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defectin the Affected Class
Vehicles, the Defendants engaged in unfair and deceptive trade practices. prohibited by
sections 5 and 6 of the Alberta CPA. The Defendants knew that the Affected. Ciass Vehicles
were equipped with a defective HECU that was improperly orinadequately. sealed to
prevent moisture from entering in, or-accumulating within, so as.fo-cause-a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment whiie driving or
even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, all of which posed a serious risk of harm,
injury and/or property damage to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, but yet failed
to adequately warn consumers.

As alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and omissions
concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the ABS equipped in the Affected
Class Vehicles.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety risk.

In particular, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of unfair or deceptive acts or practices
in failing to disclose to proposed Class Members that the HECU was improperly or
inadequately sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to
cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine
compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, as follows:

(a) failing to disclose that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were not of
a particular standard, quality, or grade;

(b) failing to disclose before, during and/or after the time of purchase, lease and/or
repair, any and all known material defects or material nonconformity of the Affected
Class Vehicles, including the Electrical Fire Defect;

(c) failing to disclose at the time of purchase and/or lease that the Affected Class
Vehicles, including the HECU, were not in good working order, defective, not fit for
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their intended, and ordinary purpose, and created a serious and imminent risk of
danger or harm to-occupants of.the Affected: Class:Vehicies;.

(d) failing to give adequate warnings and/cr notices:regarding the use, defects, and
problems with the HECU-in-the ABS -equipped-in-the Affected Class Vehicles' to
consumers who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles, even though
the Defendants possessed exclusive knowledge of the inherent defect in the HECU
before and at the time of purchase and/or lease;

(e) failing to disclose, either through wamings and/or recall notices, and/or actively
concealing, the fact that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was defective,
even though the Defendants knew about the Electrical Fire Defect; and

f representing that the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles would be
covered under their warranty program.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in
Alberta were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge of
the Electrical Fire Defect such that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to
prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or

even when the vehicle is parked and turned off.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect, the Defendants
engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by sections 5 and 6 of the
Alberta CPA.

Further, as alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and/or
omissions concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the Affected Class
Vehicles, in particular as to the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles

by:

(a) publishing owners' manuals that made materially misleading omissions concerning
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(c)
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vehicle -safety and purported performance which uniformly omitted any warning to
consumers-that-the . HECU-was “improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent
moisture from entering-in,. or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit-
resulting in spontaneous -fire: eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while

driving or even when the vehicle-is parked and turned off;

advertisements which uniformly omitted any information about the Electrical Fire
Defect and which misled consumers into believing that the HECU would function

properly; and

emphasizing and extolling in brochures the safety, durability and performance of the
Affected Class Vehicles.

The Defendants conduct as alleged herein was, and is, in violation of sections 5 and 6 of
the Alberta CPA, in particular, by:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were defect-free
and did not pose a safety hazard, which it did not;

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were of a
particular standard, quality or grade, when they were not;

advertising the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, with intent not to sell

them as advertised; and

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, have been
supplied in accordance with a previous representation as to benefits, performance

and/or safety, when they have not.

‘In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members in

Alberta were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge of

the Electrical Fire Defect and/or their representations made as to the benefits, performance

and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles in their sales brochure materials, manuals,
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press releases and/or websites.

T et Penl
T e e ST

The ‘Defendants' intentionally and knowingly misrepresented and omitted material facts’
regarding their Affected Class Vehicles; specifically regarding the Electrical Fire Defect, with
an intent to mislead: proposed Class Members.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety risk.

Proposed Class Members had no way of knowing of the Defendants representations were
false, misleading and incomplete or knowing the true nature of the Electrical Fire Defect in
the Affected Class Vehicles. As alleged herein, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of
deception in the face of a known fire defect in the Affected Class Vehicles. Proposed Class
Members did not, and could not, unravel the Defendants deception on their own.

The Defendants knew, or ought to have known, that their conduct violated sections 5 and
6 of the Alberta CPA.

The Defendants owed proposed Class Members a duty to disclose the truth about the
Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles as it created a serious safety hazard

and the Defendants:

(a) possessed exclusive knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles;

(b) intentionally concealed the foregoing from proposed Class Members; and/or

(c) failed to warn consumers or to publicly admit that the Affected Class Vehicles had
a fire defect.

The Defendants had a duty to disclose that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was
fundamentally flawed as described herein because it created a serious safety hazard and
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proposed Class Members relied on the Defendants material misrepresentations and.

omissions regarding the Affected Class Vehicles and the Electrical Fire Defect.: - =wries

" The Defendants conduct proximately caused injuries to the proposed Class Members that. -

Proposed Class Members were injured and suffered ascertainable loss, injury-in-factand/or
actual damage as a proximate result of the Defendants conduct in that proposed Class
Members incurred costs related to the Electrical Fire Defect including repair, service and/or
replacement costs, rental car costs and overpaid for their Affected Class Vehicles that have
suffered a diminution in value.

The Defendants violations cause continuing injuries to proposed Class Members. The
Defendants unlawful acts and practices complained of herein affect the public interest.

The Defendants knew of the defective HECU and that the Affected Class Vehicles were
materially compromised by the Electrical Fire Defect.

The facts concealed and omitted by the Defendants from the proposed Class Members are
material in that a reasonable consumer would have considered them to be important in
deciding whether to purchase an Affected Class Vehicle or pay a lower price. Had the
proposed Class Members known about the defective nature of the HECU in the Affected
Class Vehicles, they would not have purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles
or would not have paid the prices they paid.

Proposed Class Members'’ injuries were directly or proximately caused by the Defendants
unlawful and deceptive business practices.

As a result of the Defendants breaches of the Alberta CPA, proposed Class Members in
Alberta are entitled to damages or alternatively, rescission or restitution under sections
13(1) and (2) and 142.1 of the Alberta CPA, a declaration under section 13(2)(a) of the
Alberta CPA that a practice of the Defendants is unfair, and an injunction under section
13(2)e) of the Alberta CPA to restrain such conduct.
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Proposed Class Members in Alberta are entitled, to the extent necessary, a waiver of any
notice requirements under section 7.1(1) of the Alberta ‘CPA, as aresult of the Defendants
failure to disclose and/or actively-conceal the Electrical Fire Defect from proposed Class
Members in Alberta and their misrepresentations as.to the benéfits, performance and/or
safety of the Affected Class Vehicles. ‘

Consumer Protection and Business Practices Act, Statutes of Saskatchewan, 2014, ¢. C-30.2
(“Saskatchewan CPBPA”)

104

105.

106.

107.

108.
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Proposed Class Members in Saskatchewan hereby incorporate by reference the allegations
contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

The Defendants are in Saskatchewan for the purposes of the Saskatchewan CPBPA.

The Affected Class Vehicles are consumer “goods” within the meaning of section 2(e)ofthe
Saskatchewan CPBPA.

Proposed Class Members in Saskatchewan who purchased and/or leased the Affected
Class Vehicles primarily for personal, family or household purposes, and not for resale or
for the purposes of carrying on business, are “consumers” within the meaning of section
2(b) of the Saskatchewan CPBPA.

The purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles by proposed Class Members in
Saskatchewan for personal, family or household purposes, and not for resale or for carrying
on business constitutes a “consumer transaction” under the Saskatchewan CPBPA.

The Defendants are a “supplier” within the meaning of section 2(i) of the Saskatchewan
CPBPA as they carried on business in Saskatchewan and who in the course of business
participated in a consumer transaction by: (i) supplying goods to a consumer, or (ii)
soliciting, offering, advertising or promoting with respect to a consumer transaction, whether
or not privity of contract exists between that person and the consumer, and includes an
assignee of, any rights or obligations of the supplier under the Saskatchewan CPBPA. The
Defendants are the vehicle manufacturers of the Affected Class Venhicles and distribute,
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market and/or supply such. vehicles to consumers including proposed Class Members in
Saskatchewan. At all relevant times, the-Defendants were a supplier and/or seller of the
Affected Class Vehicles as their reseliers;: authorized dealers and/or distributors were

acting as the agents of the Defendants.- ..~ .

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles, the Defendants engaged in unfair and deceptive trade practices prohibited by
sections 6 and 7 of the Saskatchewan CPBPA. The Defendants knew that the Affected
Class Vehicles were equipped with a defective HECU that was improperly or inadequately
sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short
circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle's engine compartment while
driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, all of which posed a serious risk
of harm, injury and/or property damage to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, but
yet failed to adequately warn consumers.

As alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and omissions
concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the ABS equipped in the Affected

Class Vehicles.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety risk.

In particular, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of unfair or deceptive acts or practices
in failing to disclose to proposed Class Members that the HECU that was improperly or
inadequately sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to
cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine

compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, as follows:

(a) failing to disclose that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were not of
a particular standard, quality, or grade;

(b) failing to disclose before, during and/or after the time of purchase, lease and/or
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-repair, any-and-all-known material defects or material nonconformity of the Affected
- Class Vehicles, including the Electrical Fire Defect;

failing to disclose at the time of purchase and/or lease that the Affected Class
Vehicles, including-the HECU, were not in good working order, defective, not fit for
their intended, and ordinary-purpose, and created a serious and imminent risk of
danger or harm t6 becupants of the Affected Class Vehicles;

failing to give adequate warnings and/or notices regarding the use, defects, and
problems with the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles' to
consumers who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles, even though
the Defendants possessed exclusive knowledge of the inherent defect in the HECU
before and at the time of purchase and/or lease;

failing to disclose, either through warnings and/or recall notices, and/or actively
concealing, the fact that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was defective,
even though the Defendants knew about the Electrical Fire Defect; and

representing that the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles would be
covered under their warranty program.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in

Saskatchewan were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive

knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect such that the HECU was improperly or inadequately

sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short

circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while

driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect, the Defendants

engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by sections 6 and 7 of the
Saskatchewan CPBPA.

Further, as alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and/or
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omissions. concerning. the- benefits, performance and/or safety of the Affected Class

- Vehic
by

(a)

(b)

(c)

fes;in.particular as to the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Veéhicies & <+ -y

“pubiishing owners' manuals that made materially misleading omissions concerning
+ vehicle safety and purported performance which uniformly omitted any warning to
--eonsumers that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent

moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while
driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off:

advertisements which uniformly omitted any information about the Electrical Fire
Defect and which misled consumers into believing that the HECU would function

properly; and

emphasizing and extolling in brochures the safety, durability and performance of the
Affected Class Vehicles.

The Defendants conduct as alleged herein was, and is, in violation of sections 6 and 7 of
the Saskatchewan CPBPA, in particular, by:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were defect-free
and did not pose a safety hazard, which it did not;

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were of a
particular standard, quality or grade, when they were not;

advertising the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, with intent not to sell
them as advertised; and

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, have been
supplied in accordance with a previous representation as to benefits, performance
and/or safety, when they have not.
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In purchasing -and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class ‘Members in
Saskatchewan were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose: their-&xclusive
knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect and/or their representations made as to-the benefits,
performance and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles in their sales brochure materials,

manuals, press releases and/or websites.

The Defendants intentionally and knowingly misrepresented and’ omitted material facts
regarding their Affected Class Vehicles, specifically regarding the Electrical Fire Defect, with
an intent to mislead proposed Class Members.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety risk.

Proposed Class Members had no way of knowing of the Defendants representations were
false, misleading and incomplete or knowing the true nature of the Electrical Fire Defect in
the Affected Class Vehicles. As alleged herein, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of
deception in the face of a known fire defectin the Affected Class Vehicles. Proposed Class
Members did not, and could not, unravel the Defendants deception on their own.

The Defendants knew, or ought to have known, that their conduct violated sections 6 and
7 of the Saskatchewan CPBPA.

The Defendants owed proposed Class Members a duty to disclose the truth about the
Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles as it created a serious safety hazard

and the Defendants:

(a) possessed exclusive knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class

Vehicles;

(b) intentionally concealed the foregoing from proposed Class Members; and/or

(c) failed to warn consumers or to publicly admit that the Affected Class Vehicles had
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a fire defect.
The Defendants had a.duty to disclose that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was
fundamentally flawed as described herein because it created:a serious safety hazard and
proposed Class Members relied on the Defendants material misrepresentations and
omissions regarding the Affected Class Vehicles and the Electrical Fire Defect.

The Defendants conduct proximately caused injuries to the proposed Class Members that
purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles and suffered harm as alleged herein.

Proposed Class Members were injured and suffered ascertainable loss, injury-in-fact and/or
actual damage as a proximate result of the Defendants conduct in that proposed Class
Members incurred costs related to the Electrical Fire Defect including repair, service and/or
replacement costs, rental car costs and overpaid for their Affected Class Vehicles that have
suffered a diminution in value.

The Defendants violations cause continuing injuries to proposed Class Members. The
Defendants unlawful acts and practices complained of herein affect the public interest.

The Defendants knew of the defective HECU and that the Affected Class Vehicles were
materially compromised by the Electrical Fire Defect.

The facts concealed and omitted by the Defendants from the proposed Class Members are
material in that a reasonable consumer would have considered them to be important in
deciding whether to purchase an Affected Class Vehicle or pay a lower price. Had the
proposed Class Members known about the defective nature of the HECU in the Affected
Class Vehicles, they would not have purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles
or would not have paid the prices they paid.

Proposed Class Members’ injuries were directly or proximately caused by the Defendants
unlawful and deceptive business practices.

As a result of the Defendants unfair practices in breach of the Saskatchewan CPBPA,
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proposed Class Members in Saskatchewan are entitied to damages, restitution and/or an
injunction restraining the: Defendans from continuing the unfair- practices pursuant to
sections 93 (1) (a),(b) and (c) of the Saskatchewan CPBPA.

Proposed Class Members in Saskaichewan are entitled, to the extent necessary, a waiver
of any applicable notice requirements-under the Saskatchewan CPBPA, as a result of the
Defendants failure to disclose and/or-actively conceal the Electrical Fire Defect from
proposed Class Members in Saskatchewan and their misrepresentations as to the benefits,
performance and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles.

The Business Practices Act, CCSM ¢c.B120 (“Manitoba BPA")
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134.
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Proposed Class Members in Manitoba hereby incorporate by reference the allegations
contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

The Defendants are in Manitoba for the purposes of the Manitoba BPA.

The Affected Class Vehicles are consumer “‘goods” within the meaning of section 1 of the
Manitoba BPA.

Proposed Class Members in Manitoba who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class
Vehicles primarily for personal, family or household purposes, and not for resale or for the
purposes of carrying on business, are “consumers” within the meaning of section 1 of the
Manitoba BPA.

The purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles by proposed Class Members in
Manitoba for personal, family or household purposes, and not for resale or for carrying on
business constitutes a “consumer transaction” within the meaning of section 1 of the
Manitoba BPA.

The Defendants are a “supplier” within the meaning of section 1 of the Manitoba BPA as
they carried on business in Manitoba and who in the course of business participated in a
consumer transaction by: (i) supplying goods to a consumer, or (ii) soliciting, offering,
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- advertising. or promoting with respect to a consumer transaction, whether or not privity of

contract exists beiween that person and the consumer, and includes an assignee of, any.
rights:or ‘obligations of the supplier under the Manitoba BPA. The Defendants are the
vehicle manufacturers. of the Affected Class Vehicles and distribute, market and/or supply
such vehicles to consumers including proposed Class Members in Manitoba. At all relevant
times, the Defendants were-a supplier and/or seller of the Affected Class Vehicles as their
resellers, authorized dealers and/or distributors were acting as the agents of the

Defendants.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles, the Defendants engaged in unfair and deceptive trade practices prohibited by
sections 2(1) and 3 of the Manitoba BPA. The Defendants knew that the Affected Class
Vehicles were equipped with a defective HECU that was improperly or inadequately sealed
to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or
even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, all of which posed a serious risk of harm,
injury and/or property damage to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, but yet failed

to adequately warn consumers.

As alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and omissions
concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the ABS equipped in the Affected
Class Vehicles.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety risk.

In particular, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of unfair or deceptive acts or practices
in failing to disclose to proposed Class Members that the HECU was improperly or
inadequately sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to
cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine
compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, as follows:
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-(a) failing to disclose that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were not. -. .
wrans o of a particular standard, quality, or grade: - D T

* (D) failing to disclose before, during and/or after the time of purchase, lease and/or ... -
repair, any and all known material defects or material nonconformity of the Affected.: v .--
Class Vehicles, including the Electrical Fire Defect;

(c) failing to disclose at the time of purchase and/or lease that the Affected Class
Vehicles, including the HECU, were not in good working order, defective, not fit for
their intended, and ordinary purpose, and created a serious and imminent risk of
danger or harm to occupants of the Affected Class Vehicles;

(d) failing to give adequate warnings and/or notices regarding the use, defects, and
problems with the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles' to
consumers who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles, even though
the Defendants possessed exclusive knowledge of the inherent defect in the HECU
before and at the time of purchase and/or lease;

(e) failing to disclose, either through warnings and/or recall notices, and/or actively
concealing, the fact that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was defective,
even though the Defendants knew about the Electrical Fire Defect; and

() representing that the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles would be
covered under their warranty program.

143.  In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in
Manitoba were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge of
the Electrical Fire Defect such that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to
prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle's engine compartment while driving or
even when the vehicle is parked and turned off.

144. By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect, the Defendants
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engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by sections-2(1) and 3 of the
Manitoba BPA. e

Further, as alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading.- representations and/or

omissions concerning the benefits, performance -and/or safety ‘of the- Affected Class
Vehicles, in particular as to the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Ciass Vehicles

by:

(a)

(b)

(c)

publishing owners' manuals that made materially misleading omissions concerning
vehicle safety and purported performance which uniformly omitted any warning to
consumers that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent
moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while

driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off;

advertisements which uniformly omitted any information about the Electrical Fire
Defect and which misled consumers into believing that the HECU would function

properly; and

emphasizing and extolling in brochures the safety, durability and performance of the
Affected Class Vehicles.

The Defendants conduct as alleged herein was, and is, in violation of sections 2(1) and 3
of the Manitoba BPA, in particular, by:

(a)

(b)

(c)

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were defect-free
and did not pose a safety hazard, which it did not;

representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were of a
particular standard, quality or grade, when they were not;

advertising the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, with intent not to sell

them as advertised; and
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(d) representing that the Affected Class Vehicies, including the HECU, have been
supplied in accordance with a previous representation as to benefits, performance
and/or safety, when they have not. .-

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members in
Manitoba were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge of
the Electrical Fire Defect and/or their representations made as to the benefits, performance
and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles in their sales brochure materials, manuals,

press releases and/or websites.

The Defendants intentionally and knowingly misrepresented and omitted material facts
regarding their Affected Class Vehicles, specifically regarding the Electrical Fire Defect, with

an intent to mislead proposed Class Members.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety risk.

Proposed Class Members had no way of knowing of the Defendants representations were
false, misleading and incomplete or knowing the true nature of the Electrical Fire Defect in
the Affected Class Vehicles. As alleged herein, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of
deception in the face of a known fire defect in the Affected Class Vehicles. Proposed Class

Members did not, and could not, unravel the Defendants deception on their own.

The Defendants knew, or ought to have known, that their conduct violated sections 2(1) and
3 of the Manitoba BPA.

The Defendants owed proposed Class Members a duty to disclose the truth about the
Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles as it created a serious safety hazard

and the Defendants:

(a) possessed exclusive knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
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Vehicles;

(b) intentionally concealed the foregoing from proposed Class Members; and/or

(c) failed to warn consumers or to publicly admit that the Affected Class Vehicles had

a fire defect.

The Defendants had a duty to disclose that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was
fundamentally flawed as described herein because it created a serious safety hazard and
proposed Class Members relied on the Defendants material misrepresentations and

omissions regarding the Affected Class Vehicles and the Electrical Fire Defect.

The Defendants conduct proximately caused injuries to the proposed Class Members that

purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles and suffered harm as alleged herein.

Proposed Class Members were injured and suffered ascertainable loss, injury-in-factand/or
actual damage as a proximate result of the Defendants conduct in that proposed Class
Members incurred costs related to the Electrical Fire Defect including repair, service and/or
replacement costs, rental car costs and overpaid for their Affected Class Vehicles that have

suffered a diminution in value.

The Defendants violations cause continuing injuries to proposed Class Members. The

Defendants unlawful acts and practices complained of herein affect the public interest.

The Defendants knew of the defective HECU and that the Affected Class Vehicles were

materially compromised by the Electrical Fire Defect.

The facts concealed and omitted by the Defendants from the proposed Class Members are
material in that a reasonable consumer would have considered them to be important in
deciding whether to purchase an Affected Class Vehicle or pay a lower price. Had the
proposed Class Members known about the defective nature of the HECU in the Affected
Class Vehicles, they would not have purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles
or would not have paid the prices they paid.
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Proposed Class Members’ injuries were directly or proximately caused by the Defendants
unlawful-and deceptive business practices.

As a result of the Defendants breaches of the Manitoba BPA, proposed Class Members in
Manitoba.are entitled to damages under section 23(2(a) of the Manitoba BPA, rescission
of the consumer transaction under section 23(2)(b) of the Manitoba BPA, and an injunction
under section 23(2)(c) of the Manitoba BPA to restrain such conduct.

Proposed Class Members in Manitoba are entitled, to the extent necessary, a waiver of any
notice requirements under the Manitoba BPA, as a result of the Defendants failure to
disclose and/or actively conceal the Electrical Fire Defect from proposed Class Members
in Manitoba and their misrepresentations as to the benefits, performance and/or safety of
the Affected Class Vehicles.

Consumer Protection Act, SO 2002, ¢.30, Sch A (“Ontario CPA”)

162.

163.
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Proposed Class Members in Ontario hereby incorporate by reference the allegations
contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Givil Claim.

The Defendants are in Ontario for the purposes of the Ontario CPA.

The Affected Class Vehicles are consumer “goods” within the meaning of section 1 of the
Ontario CPA.

Proposed Class Members in Ontario who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class
Vehicles for personal, family or household purposes, and not for business purposes, are
“consumers” within the meaning of section 1 of the Ontario CPA.

The purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles by proposed Class Members in
Ontario for personal, family or household purposes, and not for business purposes,
constitutes a “consumer transaction” and/or “consumer agreement” within the meaning of
section 1 of the Ontario CPA.
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The Defendants are a “supplier” within the meaning of section 1 of the Ontario CPA .and
who are in the business of selling, leasing or trading in goods and services; and inéiudes
the agent of the supplier or-any person who holds themself out to be a'supplieror.agent of
the supplier. The Defendants are the vehicle manufacturers of the Affected Class Vehicles
and market, distribute and/or supply such vehicles to consumers, including proposed Class
Members through authorized dealerships, distributors and/or resellers as their sales-agents. -

As alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and omissions
concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles of the
ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety risk.

Pursuant to section 14(1) of the Ontario CPA it is an unfair practice for a person to make

a false, misleading or deceptive representation.

Pursuant to sections 14(1) and (2) of the Ontario CPA the Defendants have engaged in
unfair practices relating to false, misleading or deceptive representations which were made
before, during and/or after proposed Class Members in Ontario entered into agreements to
purchase and/or lease the Affected Class Vehicles. The Defendants knew that the Affected
Class Vehicles were equipped with a defective HECU that was improperly or inadequately
sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short
circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while
driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, all of which posed a serious risk
of harm, injury and/or property damage to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, but
yet failed to adequately warn consumers.

As alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and omissions
concerning the benefits, perfformance and/or safety of the ABS equipped in the Affected
Class Vehicles.
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In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members were-

- deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of-the Electrical Fire Defect -

and associated safety risk.

In particular, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of unfair or.-deceptive acts or practices

in failing to disclose to proposed Class Members that the: HECU was improperly or

inadequately sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to

cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine

compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

failing to disclose that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were not of
a particular standard, quality, or grade;

failing to disclose before, during and/or after the time of purchase, lease and/or
repair, any and all known material defects or material nonconformity of the Affected
Class Vehicles, including the Electrical Fire Defect;

failing to disclose at the time of purchase and/or lease that the Affected Class
Vehicles, including the HECU, was not in good working order, defective, not fit for
their intended, and ordinary purpose, and created a serious and imminent risk of
danger or harm to occupants of the Affected Class Vehicles;

failing to give adequate warnings and/or notices regarding the use, defects, and
problems with the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles' to
consumers who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles, even though
the Defendants possessed exclusive knowledge of the inherent defectin the HECU
before and at the time of purchase and/or lease;

failing to disclose, either through warnings and/or recall notices, and/or actively
concealing, the fact that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was defective,

even though the Defendants knew about the Electrical Fire Defect; and

representing that the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles would be
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covered under their warranty program.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected. Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in
Ontario were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge of
the Electrical Fire Defect such that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to
prevent moisture from entering in, or aceumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or

even when the vehicle is parked and turned off.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect, the Defendants
engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by sections 14(1) and (2) of the
Ontario BPA.

Further, as alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and/or
omissions concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the Affected Class
Vehicles, in particular as to the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles

by:

(a) publishing owners' manuals that made materially misleading omissions concerning
vehicle safety and purported performance which uniformly omitted any warning to
consumers that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent
moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while

driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off:
(b) advertisements which uniformly omitted any information about the Electrical Fire
Defect and which misled consumers into believing that the HECU would function

properly; and

(c) -emphasizing and extolling in brochures the safety, durability and performance of the
Affected Class Vehicles.

The Defendants conduct as alleged herein was, and is, in violation of sections 14(1) and
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(2) of the Ontario BPA,; .in particular, by:

(a) representingthat the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were defect-free .
and did not pose.a safety hazard, which it did not;

(b) representing that'the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were of a
particular standard, quality or grade when they were not;

(c) advertising the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, with intent not to sell
them as advertised; and

(d) representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, have been
supplied in accordance with a previous representation as to benefits, performance
and/or safety when they have not.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members in
Ontario were deceived by the Defendants, failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge of
the Electrical Fire Defect and/or their representations made as to the benefits, performance
and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles ain their sales brochure materials, manuals,

press releases and/or websites.

The Defendants intentionally and knowingly misrepresented and omitted material facts
regarding its Affected Class Vehicles, specifically regarding the Electrical Fire Defect, with
an intent to mislead proposed Class Members.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles proposed Class Members were
deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect
and associated safety risk.

Proposed Class Members had no way of knowing of the Defendants representations were
false, misleading and incomplete or knowing the true nature of the Electrical Fire Defect in
the Affected Class Vehicles. As alleged herein, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of
deception in the face of a known fire defect in the Affected Class Vehicles. Proposed Class
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Members did not, and could not, unravel the Defendants deception on their own.

=The Defendants knew, or ought to have known, that their conduct violated sections 14{1)". .7 ..

and:(2 ) of the Ontario BPA.

‘The Defendants owed proposed Class Members a duty to disclose the truth about the

Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles as it created a serious safety hazard

and the Defendants:

(a) possessed exclusive knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles;

(b) intentionally concealed the foregoing from proposed Class Members; and/or

(c) failed to warn consumers or to publicly admit that the Affected Class Vehicles had

a fire defect.

The Defendants had a duty to disclose that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was
fundamentally flawed as described herein because it created a serious safety hazard and
proposed Class Members relied on the Defendants material misrepresentations and
omissions regarding the Affected Class Vehicles and the Electrical Fire Defect.

The Defendants conduct proximately caused injuries to the proposed Class Members that
purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles and suffered harm as alleged herein.

Proposed Class Members were injured and suffered ascertainable loss, injury-in-fact and/or
actual damage as a proximate result of the Defendants conduct in that proposed Class
Members incurred costs related to the Electrical Fire Defect including repair, service and/or
replacement costs, rental car costs and overpaid for their Affected Class Vehicles that have

suffered a diminution in value.

The Defendants violations cause continuing injuries to proposed Class Members. The
Defendants unlawful acts and practices complained of herein affect the public interest.
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The Defendants knew of the defective HECU and that the Affected Class Vehicles were
materially compromised by the Electrical Fire Defect.

The facts concealed and omitted by the Defendants from the proposed Class Members are
material in that a reasonable consumer would have considered them fo be important in
deciding whether to purchase an Affected Class Vehicle or pay & lower: price. Had the
proposed Class Members known about the defective nature of the HECU in the Affected
Class Vehicles, they would not have purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles
or would not have paid the prices they paid.

Proposed Class Members’ injuries were directly or proximately caused by the Defendants
unlawful and deceptive business practices.

As a result of the Defendants breaches of the Ontario CPA, proposed Class Members in
Ontario are entitled to damages or, alternatively, recession or restitution if recession is not
possible, under sections 18(1) and (2) of the Ontario CPA.

Proposed Class Members in Ontario are entitled, to the extent necessary, a waiver of any
notice requirements under section 18(3) and (15) of the Ontario CPA, as a result of the
Defendants failure to disclose and/or actively conceal the Electrical Fire Defect from
proposed Class Members in Ontario and their misrepresentations as to the benefits,
performance and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles.

Consumer Product Warranty and Liability Act, SNB 1978, c. C-18.1 (“NB CPWLA”)

194.

195.

196.

Proposed Class Members in New Brunswick hereby incorporate by reference the
allegations contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Further Amended Notice of Civil
Claim.

The Defendants are in New Brunswick for the purposes of the NB CPWILA.

The Affected Class Vehicles are “consumer products ” within the meaning of section 1(1)
of the NB CPWLA.
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Proposed Class Members in New Brunswick who purchased and/or leased the Affected
Class Vehicles primarily for personal, family or household purposes, and not for business
purposes, are “buyers” or consumers within the meaning of section 1( 1) of the NB CPWILA.

The purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class. Vehicles by proposed Class Members in
New Brunswick primarily for personal, family or househoid purposes, and not for business
purposes, constitutes a “contract for the sale or supply of a consumer product”, or a
consumer fransaction within the meaning of section 1(1) of the NB CPWLA.

The Defendants are a “seller”, within the meaning of section 1(1) of the NB CPWILA, who
supply a consumer product under a contract for the sale or supply of a consumer product.
Further, the Defendants are also a “distributor” of the Affected Class Vehicles as they
manufacture, market and/or supply such vehicles to consumers, including proposed Class
Members in New Brunswick, within the meaning of section 1(1) of the NB CPWLA. Privity
of contract is not required between a seller and buyer for a consumer product under the NB
CPWLA.

The meaning of “loss” within section 1 of the NB CPWLA includes loss or damage of any

kind, including economic loss, damage to property and personal injury.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class
Vehicles, the Defendanta engaged in unfair and deceptive trade practices prohibited by
section 4(1) of the NP CPWLA. The Defendants knew that the Affected Class Vehicles were
equipped with a defective HECU that was improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent
moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit resulting in
spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or even when
the vehicle is parked and turned off, all of which posed a serious risk of harm, injury and/or
property damage to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, but yet failed to adequately

warn consumers.

As alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and omissions
concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the ABS equipped in the Affected
Class Vehicles.
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In purchasing and/or leasing the -Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members were

deceived by the Defendants faiiuie-to disclose their knowledge of the Electrical Fire Defect

and associated safety. risk. -

In particular, the Defendants-engaged.in-a pattern of unfair or deceptive acts or practices

in failing to disclose to proposed Class-Members that the HECU that was improperly or

inadequately sealed to prevent moisiure from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to

cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’'s engine

compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off, as follows:

(a)

(b)

(¢

(d)

(e)

(f)

failing to disclose that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were not of
a particular standard, quality, or grade;

failing to disclose before, during and/or after the time of purchase, lease and/or
repair, any and all known material defects or material nonconformity of the Affected
Class Vehicles, including the Electrical Fire Defect:

failing to disclose at the time of purchase and/or lease that the Affected Class
Vehicles, including the HECU, were not in good working order, defective, not fit for
their intended, and ordinary purpose, and created a serious and imminent risk of
danger or harm to occupants of the Affected Class Vehicles;

failing to give adequate warnings and/or notices regarding the use, defects, and
problems with the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles' to
consumers who purchased and/or leased the Affected Class Vehicles, even though
the Defendants possessed exclusive knowledge of the inherent defect in the HECU
before and at the time of purchase and/or lease:

failing to disclose, either through warmings and/or recall notices, and/or actively
concealing, the fact that the HECU in the Affected Class Vehicles was defective,

even though the Defendants knew about the Electrical Fire Defect; and

representing that the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles would be
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. covered under their warranty program..

[
S S

“In purchasing-and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in New

Brunswick were deceived by the Defendants failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge
of the Electrical Fire Defect such that the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to
prevent moisture ‘from-entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting-in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or
even when the vehicle is parked and turned off.

By failing to disclose and actively concealing the Electrical Fire Defect, the Defendants
engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices prohibited by the sections 4(1) of the NB
CPWILA.

Further, as alleged herein, the Defendants made misleading representations and/or
omissions concerning the benefits, performance and/or safety of the Affected Class
Vehicles, in particular as to the HECU in the ABS equipped in the Affected Class Vehicles
by:

(a) publishing owners' manuals that made materially misleading omissions concerning
vehicle safety and purported performance which uniformly omitted any warning to
consumers that the HECU that was improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent
moisture from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit
resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s engine compartment while
driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned off:

(b) advertisements which uniformly omitted any information about the Electrical Fire
Defect and which misled consumers into believing that the HECU would function

properly; and

(c) emphasizing and extolling in brochures the safety, durability and performance of the
Affected Class Vehicles.

The Defendants conduct as alleged herein was, and is, in violation of sections 4(1) and (3)
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of the NB CPWLA, in particular, by:

e (a) representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, were defeci-iree -

209.

210.

and did not pose a safety hazard, which it did not;

~(b)-  representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including HECU, were of a particiilar’

standard, quality or grade. when they were not:

(c) advertising the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, with intent not to sell
them as advertised; and

(d) representing that the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU, have been
supplied in accordance with a previous representation as to benefits, performance
and/or safety, when they have not.

In purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles, proposed Class Members in New
Brunswick were deceived by the Defendants, failure to disclose their exclusive knowledge
of the Electrical Fire Defect and/or their representations made as to the benefits, safety
and/or performance of its Affected Class Vehicles in its sales brochure materials, manuals,
press releases and/or websites. Pursuant to section 4(1) of the NB CPWLA statements
made by a seller to a buyer regarding a product are express warranties. As such, the
Defendants false, misleading or deceptive statements and/or representations concerning
the benefits, performance and/or safety of the Affected Class Vehicles, including the HECU,
to proposed Class Members in New Brunswick, are in violation of the provisions of section
4(1) of the NP CPWLA.

Proposed Class Members in New Brunswick had no way of knowing of the Defendants
statements and/or representations were false, misleading and incomplete or knowing the
true nature of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles at the time of
purchase and/orlease. As alleged herein, the Defendants engaged in a pattern of deception
in the face of a known fire defect in the Affected Class Vehicles. Proposed Class Members
in New Brunswick did not, and could not, unravel the Defendants deception on their own.
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Further, pursuant to sections 27(1)(a) and (d) of the NB CPWLA a supplier of a consumer
product thatis unreasonably dangerous to a person because of a defectin design, materials
or workmanship is liable to any person who suffers a consumer-ioss in'the Province of New

- Brunswick because of the defect, if the loss was reasonably foreseeable at the time of the

supply as liable to result from the defect and: (i) the supplier has-supplied the consumer
product in the Province of New Brunswick: or (i) the supplier has‘supplied the consumer
product outside the Province of New Brunswick but at the time of the supply it was
reasonably foreseeable that the product would be used or consumed in the Province of New

Brunswick.

As alleged herein, the HECU was improperly or inadequately sealed to prevent moisture
from entering in, or accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit resulting in
spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle's engine compartment while driving or even when
the vehicle is parked and turned off, all of which was reasonably foreseeable at the time of
the contract of purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles.

The Defendants supplied and/or distributed the Affected Class Vehicles for purchase and/or
lease to consumers in the Province of New Brunswick or outside the Province of New
Brunswick for use in the Province of New Brunswick, which was reasonably foreseeable
at the time of purchase and/or lease.

As aresult of the Electrical Fire Defect proposed Class Members in New Brunswick suffered
a consumer loss, including, but not limited to, repair, service, and/or replacement costs,
rental car costs and overpaid for their Affected Class Vehicles that have suffered a
diminution in value, all of which was reasonably foreseeable at the time of the contract of
purchase and/or lease of the Affected Class Vehicles and for which the Defendants are
liable pursuant to sections 27(1)(a) and/or 28 of the NB CPWLA.

Proposed Class Members in New Brunswick are entitled, to the extent necessary, a waiver
of any notice requirements under the NB CPWLA, as a result of the Defendants failure to
disclose and/or actively conceal the Electrical Fire Defect from proposed Class Members
in New Brunswick and their misrepresentations as to the benefits, performance and/or
safety of the Affected Class Vehicles.
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Breach of the Competition Act

216.

217.

218.

219.

i T

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members hereby incorporate by reference the allegations
contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Notice of Civil Claim.

By making representations to the public as to the safety, durability, quality, character and/or
performance of the Affected Class Vehicles, the Defendants breached sections 36 and/or
52 of the Competition Act, in that their representations:

(a) were made to the public in the form of advertising brochures, statements and/or
other standardized statements claiming the safety, durability, quality, character
and/or performance of the Affected Class Vehicles;

(b) were made to promote the supply or use of a product or for the purpose of
promoting its business interests:

(c) stated safety of the Affected Class Vehicles; and
(d) were false and misleading in a material respect.

At all relevant times, the Defendants were the seller and/or supplier of the Affected Class
Vehicles. As such, there existed contractual privity and/or vertical privity of contract between
the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members and the Defendants as to the Affected Class
Vehicles as their resellers, authorized dealers and/or distributors at all material times were

acting as the agents of the Defendants.

The Defendants engaged in unfair competition and unfair or unlawful business practices
through the conduct, statements and omissions described herein and by knowingly and
intentionally concealing the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles from
Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, along with concealing the safety risks, costs, and
monetary damage resulting from the Electrical Fire Defect. The Defendants should have
disclosed this information because they were in a superior position to know the true facts
related to the Electrical Fire Defect and Plaintiff and proposed Class Members could not
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reasonably be expected:to learn or discover the true facts related to the Electrical Fire
Defect:

The Electrical Fire’ Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles constitutes a safety issue. The
Defendants knew that the Affected Class Vehicles were equipped with a defective HECU
that was improperly or ‘inadequately sealed to prevent moisture from entering in, or
accumulating within, so as to cause a short circuit resulting in spontaneous fire eruption in
the vehicle’s engine compartment while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and
turned off, all of which posed a serious risk of harm, injury and/or property damage to the
Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, which triggered the Defendants duty to disclose the

safety issue to consumers.

These acts and practices have deceived the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members. In
failing to disclose the Electrical Fire Defect and suppressing other material facts from the
Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, the Defendants breached their duty to disclose
these facts, violated the Competition Act and caused injuries to the Plaintiff and proposed
Class Members. The Defendants omissions and concealment pertained to information that
was material to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members, as it would have been to all

reasonable consumers.

Further, the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members relied upon the Defendants
misrepresentations as to the safety, durability and/or dependability of the Affected Class
Vehicles to their detriment in purchasing and/or leasing the Affected Class Vehicles so as
to cause loss and/or damage to the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members.

The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members have, therefore, suffered damages and are

entitled to recover damages pursuant to section 36(1) and/or 52 of the Competition Act.




Tolling of the Limitation Act, S.B.C. 2012, ¢. 13

236:224.The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members had no way of knowing about the Electrical Fire
Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles. The Defendants concealed their knowledge of the
Electrical Fire Defect while continuing to market, sell and/or lease, the Affected Class
Vehicles.

23%:225.Within the Limitation Act, and to equivalent legislative provisions in the rest of Canada
as described in Schedule “A”, the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members could not have
discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence that the Defendants were
concealing the conduct complained of herein and misrepresenting the true qualities of the
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Affected Class Vehicles.

©s 232:226.The Plaintiff and proposed Class Members did not know facts that- wouid have caused

a reasonable person to suspect or appreciate that there was a defect in the HECU in the
Affected Class Vehicles.

233-227.For these reasons, the Limitation Act, and to equivalent legislative provisions in the rest
of Canada, as described in Schedule “A”, has been tolled by operation of the discovery rule
with respect to the claims in this proposed class proceeding.

234.228.Further, due to Defendants knowing and active concealment throughout the time period
relevant to this proposed class proceeding, the Limitation Act, and to equivalent legislative
provisions in the rest of Canada as described in Schedule “A” has been tolled.

235:229.Instead of publicly disclosing the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles, the
Defendants kept the Plaintiff and proposed Class Members in the dark as to the Electrical
Fire Defect and the serious safety hazard it presented.

236.230.The Defendants were under a continuous duty to disclose to the Plaintiff and proposed
Class Members the existence of the Electrical Fire Defect in the Affected Class Vehicles.

237. 231.The Defendants knowingly, affirmatively and actively concealed or recklessly disregarded
the true nature, quality and character of the Affected Class Vehicles.

238.232.As such, the Defendants are estopped from relying on the Limitation Act, and equivalent
legislative provisions in the rest of Canada as described in Schedule “A”, in defense of this

proposed class proceeding.

Plaintiff's(s’) address for service:

Garcha & Company
Barristers & Solicitors
#405 - 4603 Kingsway
Burnaby, BC V5H 4M4
Canada
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Fax number address for service (if any):
604-435-4944
E-mail address for service (if any):
none
Place of trial:
Vancouver, BC, Canada
The address of the registry is:
800 Smithe Street

Vancouver, BC V6Z 2E1
Canada

Dated: April 22, 2022

Signature of K.S. Garéha
lawyer for plaintiff(s)
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Schedule “A”
Limitation Act\l_,e.gi{sla.tion Across Canada

Province or "I;erritory‘ Legislation
Alberta Limitations Act, RSA 2000, ¢. L-12
Saskatchewan The L_imiz_‘ations_ Act, SS 2004, ¢. L-16.1
Manitoba The Limitation of Actions Act, CCSM c. L150
Ontario Limitations Act, 2002, SO 2002, c. 24, Sch. B
Newfoundland and Labrador | Limitations Act, SNL 1995, ¢. L-16.1
Nova Scotia Limitation of Actions Act, SNS 2014, c. 35
New Brunswick Limitation of Actions Act, SNB 2009, c. L-8.5
Prince Edward Island Statute of Limitations, RSPE| 1988, ¢. S-7
Yukon Limitation of Actions Act, RSY 2002, c. 139
Northwest Territories Limitation of Actions Act, RSNWT 1988, c. L-8
Nunavut Limitation of Actions Act, RSNWT (Nu) 1988, c. L-8
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ENDORSEMENT ON ORIGINATING PLEADING OR PETITION FOR SERVICE OUTSIDE
3 i BRITISH COLUMBIA

There is a real and substantial connection between British Columbia and the facts alleged in this
proceeding. The Plaintiff and-the Class Members plead and rely upon the Court Jurisdiction and -
Proceedings Transfer AEﬂR.‘S.B.C. 2003 c.28 (the “CJPTA”) in respect of these Defendants.
Without limiting the forego'i'n‘g', areal and substantial connection between British Columbia and the
facts alleged in this proceeding exists pursuant to sections 10(e i), (iii)(a) & (b), (f), (g), (h) and (1)
of the CJPTA because this proceeding:

(e)X(i) concerns contractual obligations to a substantial extent, were to be
performed in British Columbia:

(e) (iii)(a) & (b)the contract is for the purchase of property, services or both, for use other
than in the course of the purchaser’s trade or profession, and resulted from
a solicitation of business in British Columbia by or on behalf of the seller:

(f concerns restitutionary obligations that, to a substantial extent, arose in
British Columbia;

(9) concerns a tort committed in British Columbia;
(h) concerns a business carried on in British Columbia:
(i) is a claim for an injunction ordering a party to do or refrain from doing

anything in British Columbia.



Appendix

-[The following information is provided for data collection purposes only and is of no legal effect ].. . -

Part 1: CONCISE SUMMARY OF NATURE OF CLAIM:

,The proposed class proceeding involves certain Affected Class Vehicles des:gned manufactured :
assembled, tested, marketed, distributed, supplied, leased and/or sold by the Defendants. in.-:..-=
. .Caniada that contain a defective Hydraulic Electronic Control Unit (HECU”) in the Anti-Lock Brake ', -

System located in the engine compartment, that can short circuit and ignite, presenting consumers

with an'unacceptable risk of engine fire while driving or even when the vehicle is parked and turned -

off. Specifically, moisture, or other leaks, can accumulate within the HECU, which maintains an
electrical charge even when the vehicle is off. Moisture, or other leaks, entering the electrified
HECU can form a short circuit, increasing the chances of spontaneous fire eruption in the vehicle’s
engine compartment, all of which poses a substantial risk of harm, injury, death and/or property
damage.

Part 2: THIS CLAIM ARISES FROM THE FOLLOWING:
A personal injury arising out of:

[ 1 motor vehicle accident

[ ] medical malpractice

[ ] another cause

A dispute concerning:

[ ] contaminated sites

[ ] construction defects

[ ] real property (real estate)

[ ] personal property

[ ] the provision of goods or services or other general commercial matters
[]investment losses

[]1the lending of money

[ 1 an employment relationship

[ 1a will or other issues concerning the probate of an estate
[X] a matter not listed here

Part 3: THIS CLAIM INVOLVES:
[x] a class action

[ ] maritime law

[ ] aboriginal law

[ ] constitutional law

[ ] conflict of laws

[ 1 none of the above

[ ]1do not know

Part 4:
1. Class Proceedings Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, ¢. 50

2. Court Jurisdiction and Proceedings Transfer Act, R.S.B.C. 2003 c. 28

3. Business Practices and Consumer Protection Act, S.B.C. 2004; Consumer Protection Act, RSA



2000, c. C-26.3; The Consumer Protection and Business Practices Act, SS, 2014, c C-30.2;The
Business Practices Act, CCSM ¢ B120; Consumer Protection Act, 2002 SO 2002 ¢ 30, Sch A;
Consumer Product Warranty and Liability Act, and SNB 1978, ¢ C-18.1"

4, Sale of Goods Act, R.S.B.C 1996, c. 410; Sale of Goods Act, RSA 2000, c. S S-2; Sale of Goods
Act, RSS 1978, c. S-1; The Sale of Goods Act, CCSM 2000, c. S10; Sale of GoodsAr't RSO 1990,
c. S.1; Sale of Goods Act RSNL 1990, c. S-6 ;Sale of Goods Act, RSNS 1989, c. 408

5. Motor Vehicle Safety Act , R.S.C. 1993, c.16

6. Court Order Interest Act, R.S.B.C., c. 79

7. Competition Act, R.S.C 1985, c. C-34

8. Limitation Act, S.B.C. 2012, ¢.13; Limitations Act, RSA 2000, c. L- 12; The Limitations Act, SS
2004, c. L-16.1;The Limitations Act, SS 2004, c. L-16. 1,The Limitation of Actions Act, CCSM c.
L150;Limitations Act, 2002, SO 2002, c. 24, Sch. B; Limitations Act, SNL 1995, c. L-16.1; Limitation
of Actions Act, SNS 2014, c. 35; Limitation of Actions Act, SNB 2009, c. L-8.5; Statute of

Limitations, RSPEI 1988, c. S-7: Limitation of Actions Act, RSY 2002, ¢. 139; Limitation of Actions
Act, RSNWT 1988, c. L-8; Limitation of Actions Act, RSNWT (Nu) 1988, c. L-8
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